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THE YEAR’'S HIGHLIGHTS NEEFE

(BRE&1ThE - BERBA RE T AR
SMILAERETIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars except number
of shares issued, shareholders and personnel)

2015 2014
—E-AF —ZE—F
Revenue ($'000) WA (F7) 569,502 728,640
(Loss)/profit for the year ($'000) FE (B58) /8F (Fr) (16,909) 36,994
(Loss)/earnings per share - Basic (cents) X (B18) /BH — ZEA&R () (4) 9
Taxes paid, including beer tax ($'000) PIEEEES (Fr) 15,984 20,670
Taxes paid per share (cents) HREFEE (L) 4 6
Fixed assets ($'000) EE&E (F7T) 597,381 621,309
Net worth ($'000) FE (F7T) 544,986 571,949
Salaries, wages and other benefits ($'000) e TERHEMER (FT) 118,421 116,888
Number of shares issued BITIREK 373,570,560 373,570,560
Number of shareholders PR EE 2,067 2,106
Number of personnel ETAH 549 566
[
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FfE %

Ramon S. Ang £
Chairman xJ&

To our shareholders,

FINANCIAL RESULTS

San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited and its subsidiaries (the "Group”)
registered a consolidated loss of HK$16.9 million in 2015, compared with
consolidated profit of HK$37.0 million in 2014. As a result, net loss attributable
to equity shareholders for 2015 was HK$16.1 million, compared to a profit of
HK$35.3 million in the previous year.

The Group's consolidated revenue was HK$569.5 million, 21.8% lower than
the same period in 2014. Gross profit reached HK$237.7 million, with a gross
profit margin of 41.7%.

As of 31 December 2015, cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
amounted to HK$148.6 million (HK$135.6 million as of 31 December 2014).
Meanwhile, total debt as of 31 December 2015 was at HK$190.7 million, 0.1%
lower than the HK$190.9 million debt reported for the same period the previous
year. Total net assets stood at HK$545.0 million (HK$571.9 million as of 31
December 2014), with a debt-to-equity ratio of 0.35 (31 December 2014: 0.33).
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DIVIDENDS

The directors have resolved that no final dividends will be declared for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

BUSINESS REVIEW
HONG KONG OPERATIONS

Overall sales volume of San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited (the
“Company”) in the territory declined by 17%, mainly because of the slow
demand in the on-premise sales channel partly due to lower tourist arrivals
and the non-renewal of distribution agreements with Anheuser-Busch InBev
China Sales Company Limited and Anheuser-Busch InBev International
GmbH & Co KG in 2014, as disclosed in a profit warning announcement last
25 January 2016. A disclosure referring to the same agreement was made
last 15 October 2014 and 6 July 2015. However, sales volumes, excluding the
discontinued agency brands, grew by 2%.

Contributing to the net loss were the operating costs associated with
the sales and marketing operations of the affected products, which were
redirected and reinvested in the development of new, premium, specialty and
craft brands.

In line with our key business strategy of sustaining a broad and diversified
portfolio of brands, the Company was quick to sign up and develop a new
stable of premium, specialty and craft brands. Last February, we signed a
distribution agreement with Mahou S.A. to be the exclusive distributor of
Mahou Cinco Estrellas. We also started selling Angry Orchard Cider, Mac's
Great White, Samuel Adams Rebel IPA, Spitfire Kentish Ale, Whitstable Bay
Blonde Lager and Whitstable Bay Pale Ale. By the second semester of
the year, all of these new brands were reporting double-digit growth rate
compared to the prior semester. Meanwhile, Kirin beer brands, which we
distribute exclusively within the territory, also continued to perform strongly.
In 2015, the brand registered a 32% volume improvement over the previous
year.

Meanwhile, to develop and strengthen our own beer brands, we launched
San Miguel Cerveza Negra in July 2014 and Red Horse Beer in February of
2015. Since its introduction, San Miguel Cerveza Negra has grown consistently
by more than 50% every semester. In the second half of 2015, Red Horse Beer
registered double-digit improvement over the previous semester.

Since its launch in 2010, San Mig Light has gained significant presence in
the market with a consistent double-digit growth. In 2015, sales volumes
grew 46% across all sales channels. We have been able to sustain demand
by ensuring visibility among target consumers. In July, we launched a new
television commercial, “Fit & Firm”, supported by a marketing campaign that
extended to point-of-sales visibility activities, out-of-home advertising and a
talent search contest.

8
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

HONG KONG OPERATIONS (Continued)

Established in 1890, our flagship San Miguel Pale Pilsen celebrated its 125th
anniversary in 2015. We initiated special market-wide promotions, supported
by a television commercial, print ads and point-of-sales communications.
We also continued to air the thematic television commercial, “Real Friends”,
which we complemented with the market-wide promotion, “Dining with
Friends” and the launch of special edition “San Miguel Moments” cans.
The Company continues to support the Hong Kong Dragon Boat Carnival
organized by the Hong Kong Tourism Board through exclusive sponsorship.

SOUTH CHINA OPERATIONS

Our South China operations posted double-digit improvement in consolidated
sales volume over the previous year, with sales revenues also up slightly.
However, despite these improvements, South China operations registered a
1% increase in operating losses compared to the previous year due to one-
off gains in 2014. Much of the volume improvement came from San Miguel
(Guangdong) Brewery Company Limited (“SMGB"). As one of the production
bases for San Miguel Brewing International Limited’s export business, it
delivered double-digit growth in 2015 over the previous year.

Meanwhile, sales volumes of Guangzhou San Miguel Brewery Company
Limited ("GSMB") declined, with the rationalization of non-performing dealers
and outlets demanding greater promotion spending. However, gross profit
margin improved with higher average selling prices and effective discount
management. Both strategies are integral to further improving GSMB's
performance.

Our dealer development program continues to be a key component of
GSMB'’s going-to-market and distribution strategy. By 2015, our successful
roll-out of the program afforded us greater control of the value chain and
we were able to shift our focus to developing sub-dealers. As a result of
efficiencies generated by the program, sales volumes in West and North
Guangdong improved significantly.

To enhance brand equity and win new consumers for San Miguel Pale Pilsen,
we launched “Meta”: a product-focused television commercial aired on a
provincial channel, to support our expansion in the Guangdong province.
For both San Miguel Pale Pilsen and San Mig Light, we launched “Enjoy a Trip
to Spain”, a market-wide consumer program to stimulate trial and repeat
consumption. In addition, we released special packaging designs for both
brands.

EWOER (=)
FREK (B)

BRPIEEREENEBR— N ANZEFRIL - B
—E-RAFERABMIZEAFHE  BBREHRE
H - FEESREEHHESSETHERNET
BHRETE - BAMEEEREEERES &
ERAE] WAEMENEETES £ NWKRER]
REEEE(E - RIRFHE A BRI [San
Miguel Moments] AR GEEB R E BB IR
HERBENNBBENZFE -

EEEY

BN EREBGEAHEER L —FHREELHT
B OWATERES - BEWL AR _-F
—E—RMER R - ERERLLEBRINR
TR UM% - HBRATERBES (B
R)WEARAR (EHER]) - ERENLEA
RERABHORBNEEREM 2~ ZAF
R-T-RFRE—FHREEUHFIER -

R - BMAENDEEBERAR ([EMNES]) HE
TRIANEERRRENEHHLERERS
SNESZFE - A WS TFHEENARDN
PTMERSEMNERFUNRE » ZFRME—TW
ERMENERE -

R BRERDAREMNEEATIZMD IH
RN EZHM - R-T—HF - KINHETHE

SRMEBEERE EAFAES  YAIKEST
BEAHEMER _QKHED - ANEBNHRK - B
PEM 4L S EBRRRNGE -

REFTE DB mEEEREIIHES - T
HERE — AR RIRE R — EAEmRERN
BRES [Metal - AXFRMAEZENETRE
R HMIRENEBEMENBRETT [HER
MM EEERERS  URIAEKK
EEHE - 1IN RO RZMEREEL TR

Al skt -



San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Ltd. Annual Report 2015

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FE &

COMMUNITY RELATIONS AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Company continues to endeavor to be socially responsible in the way
it conducts business. In 2015, we published our first Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Report to give the public a better understanding of
how we respond to issues that impact our local communities and various
stakeholders.

Specifically, we are committed to actively promote responsible drinking. We
also continue to support charitable organizations and suitable NGOs through
financial and product support, as well as by sharing with them our experience
and expertise.

We are committed to protecting the environment in the areas where we
operate and ensuring that environmental standards set by government are
consistently met or exceeded.

The ESG Report will be updated annually by the Company. The 2015 updates
will be available at the Company’s website within three months from the
publication of the Company’s annual report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

Much of our success is driven by the capabilities and commitment of each of
our employees. As such, we invest in training, seminars, and mentoring and
team-building workshops, to ensure they are equipped with the necessary
knowledge, skills, experience and winning mindset, that will help them
perform well. We endeavor to develop our employees so that we can tap
and maximize their potential, support their professional growth and foster a
friendly and caring environment.

We continue to offer competitive remuneration packages that are at par with
industry standards and provide attractive benefits, including medical and
insurance coverage and retirement packages to all employees.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company continued to apply the principles of the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules throughout the year, with the exception of Code Provision A.4.1,
which states that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. At present, all of the non-executive directors
of the Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years, and re-election at the
Annual General Meeting under the Company’s Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS

There has been no change in membership of the Board of Directors since we
published our interim report on 5 August 2015.

FUTURE DIRECTION AND CHALLENGES

For 2016, the Company has outlined the following objectives:

o In Hong Kong, to significantly turn around the business by investing
in the San Miguel brand and actively participating in the premium,
specialty and craft beer segment to regain volume loss and market
share. We will expand the wholesaler channel and make it a key
component of the Company’s going-to-market strategy in order
to achieve broader distribution, higher volume and to generate
distribution cost savings.

o In South China, to turn around the business by focusing on the
yield and coverage of the sub-dealer and dealer network in all of
our markets. We will strengthen the brand equity of San Miguel and
Dragon brands. We will likewise continue to seek new areas of growth
for our exports business and aim to improve margins and rationalize
costs.

In pursuit of the abovementioned objectives for 2016, we shall be responsive
to the following risks that we have identified:

o While Hong Kong's unemployment rate remains low and stable, the
overall wages are relatively stagnant. Tourism activity may further
lower as mainland China continues to face economic headwinds and
the renminbi depreciates which may affect industry consumption.
On the legislation front, the Hong Kong government is looking into
imposing a recycling levy on glass beverage containers. Depending
on when it will start and how much the levy will be, the prices for
our products in glass containers may be seriously affected and may
impinge consumption.

o In South China, the economy will most likely mirror the key
macroeconomic indicators of the country and continue to trend
downward gradually, which may affect local demand.

The Company reiterates its commitment to maximizing shareholder value
and enhancing and strengthening our brands. We are confident that we have
put in place sound strategies that will address the uncertainties facing the
Company, as well as allow us to take advantage of growth opportunities.
Apart from the sales and marketing strategies, we have also instituted
new policies, guidelines, systems and procedures to facilitate efficient and
effective cost management, sustainable environmental management and
responsible social engagement.
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FUTURE DIRECTION AND CHALLENGES (Continued)

In closing, we wish to convey our heartfelt gratitude to our Board of Directors
for their guidance and support. We also wish to thank our employees for their
dedication and hard work, and most of all, our shareholders, customers and
consumers for their continued patronage.

L.

Ramon S. Ang
Chairman

4 February 2016
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEE€#4%

To be presented at the Fifty-third Annual General Meeting of shareholders to
be held at Island Ballroom, Level 5, Island Shangri-La Hong Kong, Two Pacific
Place, Supreme Court Road, Central, Hong Kong on 29 April 2016 at 3:00 p.m.

The directors submit their Annual Report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited (the "Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered office and
principal place of business at 9/F, Citimark Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu
Lek Yuen, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are the manufacture and distribution
of bottled, canned and draught beers. The principal activities and other
particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

The segment analysis of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the financial year is set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and purchases attributable to
the major customers and suppliers, respectively, during the year is as follows:

HHREBR -_Z—ARNFOA-TARTF=RIE
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ARBZEBRGREER D HGE - BRI
FKEE - SMBRR 2 T BEBREMAEHEHN
M HmAMEES

BERAMBEREARRNEMEAR ([RNEHE])
ZEERIAHT - BN IRARMIFES o

FEERRUER
U TR AAT R E BE P REER S Bl A%
54t RIS

Percentage of the Group’s total

HAREE
The largest customer BARF 31.70%
Five largest customers in aggregate BRREFAE 60.28%
The largest supplier BARIER 9.68%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate BOARERERT 29.73%

One of the five largest suppliers and one of the five largest customers was
San Miguel Corporation (“SMC”) and its associates (collectively the “San
Miguel Group”) in which Mr. Ramon S. Ang, Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba, Mr.
Ramon G. Torralba, Mr. Teruyuki Daino, Mr. Takashi Hayashi, Mr. Roberto N.
Huang, Mr. Takeshi Wada, Mr. Reynato S. Puno and Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago
have beneficial interests to the extent that they have equity interests in and/
or are/were directors and/or officers of the San Miguel Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year have the directors, their
associates, or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
interest in these major customers or suppliers.

RECOMMENDED DIVIDENDS

The directors have resolved that no final dividend be declared for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group's business during the year, including the analysis
using financial key performance indicators, and the outlook of the Group's
business are provided in the Chairman’s Statement section from pages 7 to
12 of this Annual Report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
which faced the Group in 2015 can be found in the Chairman’s Statement,
including the financial risks mentioned in note 23 to the financial statements.
There were no important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year 2015.

The Company defines stakeholders as all those who affect, and/or are affected
by, its business. It embraces both internal and external stakeholders, ranging
from employees, trade partners, shareholders, suppliers, government and
local communities. The Company believes that engaging stakeholders is crucial
for the sustainability of its business, as this does not just help the Company
understand the possible risks and opportunities to its business, but also makes
possible the actual mitigation of the risks and the full comprehension of the
opportunities to its business. The Company also communicates with them
through various channels to ensure that its stakeholders are made aware of
and understand its business and/or products.

The Company endeavors to protect the environment in which it operates
its business. During the year ended 31 December 2015 (“the year under
review"”), there was no material non-compliance in relation to air and
greenhouse gas emission, discharges into water and land; and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. The Company endeavors to
continually improve the management of its operations to prevent pollution
and minimize waste. The Company also endeavors to continually improve
the proper management and usage of the different Company resources, and
the management of its operations to prevent pollution and minimize waste,
and is committed to continuously train and encourage all its employees to be
more environmentally conscious.

During the year under review, no material non-compliance of the laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company was noted. In
addition, discussion on the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”") is included in the Corporate Governance Report
and discussion on the financial statement’s compliance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) are included in note 1 to the financial statements.
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CHARITABLE AND OTHER DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$10,000 (2014: HK$52,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 22(c) to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company as at the date of this Annual Report are set out
on page 2 of the Annual Report.

With the exception of Mr. William C.M. Cheng who was appointed as alternate
director to an independent non-executive director, Dr. the Hon. Sir David K.
P. Li ("Sir David"), on 18 April 2015, all of the directors served as such for the
full year and none of the directors were appointed as directors after the last
Annual General Meeting.

Mr. Adrian M. K. Li resigned as an alternate director to Sir David on 17 April
2015 due to his other business commitments, in particular the enhanced
duties in his banking career, which require more of his time and attention.

Mr. Takashi Hayashi, Mr. Roberto N. Huang, Mr. Ramon G. Torralba and
Mr. Takeshi Wada retire by rotation in accordance with Article 105 of the
Company’s Articles of Association at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2015 or during the
period from 1 January 2016 to the date of this report are available on the
Company'’s website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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DIRECTORS’' INTERESTS

The directors of the Company as of 31 December 2015 had the following
personal interests in the shares of the Company, its holding companies,
subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) at that date as recorded in the
register of directors’ interests required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO:

(1)  INTERESTS IN ISSUED SHARES

David K. P Li

EREZER

R(EHZLPERD) RGN ERTFLESE
SECMEEME R=F-—AF+-_A=1—
AZARBEZRERRAARR  HERA
A MEARREMBEAR (EER (EHFLY
BEI&P)) BBRITRAZ BRI

(1) EeBTRAEAZRER
Number of ordinary shares in the Company
EATRZEBRZBROEE
Number of % of total
shares held issued shares

HEBRITRG
BEZEDL

BFREE

12,000,000 3.21%

Number of common shares of
1 Philippine peso each in
Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc.
Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc.

SREE1FEERE
ZEBRZBRHEE
Number of % of total
shares held issued shares
HERTRA
HREAE BECED
Ramon S. Ang FIEX 86,734,238* 25.907003%
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SRR 364 0.000109%
Roberto N. Huang H5ERE 3,039 0.000908%
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno 500 0.000149%
Carmelo L. Santiago MEFE= 500 0.000149%
Ramon G. Torralba TtEEE 260 0.000078%
* No. of shares in Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. (“Top Frontier”) held as direct ownership: 75,887 shares
7 Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. ([ Top Frontier |) E#E#E 2 RMHEE : 75,887 %
No. of shares in Top Frontier held as indirect ownership: 86,658,351 shares
M Top Frontier #1558 2 BRIDEE : 86,658,351 %
[
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (Continued) EucHiEz (@)

(1)  INTERESTS IN ISSUED SHARES (Continued) (1) EBRTREAZER (B)

Number of shares in
San Miguel Corporation

EHBATRIZRBEE
Par Value
Types of (Philippine Number of % of total
Shares pesos) shares held issued shares
HE HERITRG
Rl (GEEERR) EREA B oEDLE
Ramon S. Ang B common 5.00 374,381,669**  10.849799%
Eim
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SLEE Common 5.00 3,645 0.000106%
Preferred 5.00 10,000 0.000290%
Bk
Roberto N. Huang H=ER Ccommon 5.00 42,397 0.001229%
i
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno  Common 5.00 5,000 0.000145%
Carmelo L. Santiago M= Common 5.00 5,000 0.000145%
i
Ramon G. Torralba MEE common 5.00 2,600 0.000075%
i
*x No. of shares in SMC held as direct ownership: 757,873 shares

RENBATIEERE 2RMHEE : 757,873
No. of shares in SMC held as indirect ownership: 373,623,796 shares
RENEARIRERSE 2 IRHER - 373,623,796 %

Number of common shares of
1 Philippine peso each in
San Miguel Brewery Inc.
EHEER A REREE1FEERE

ZEBRZRDEE
Number of % of total
shares held issued shares
HERTRE
EREA BYCED
Ramon S. Ang B 5,000%** 0.000033%
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SRR 5,000%** 0.000033%
Teruyuki Daino REER 5,000%** 0.000033%
Takashi Hayashi P 2 5,000%** 0.000033%
Roberto N. Huang HFER 5,000*** 0.000033%
Carmelo L. Santiago M= 5,000 0.000033%

***  corporate interest
AR

18



EBENDEHARAT —B-RFFR

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EE &3R4

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS (Continued) ERZziEg @
(2) INTERESTS IN UNDERLYING SHARES (2) REBERDZES
Certain directors of the Company have been granted stock options ARARAETESRBENB AR 2 BRE
to subscribe for common shares in SMC under SMC's stock option STEIERBIREAREE B RR LR
scheme. Particulars of stock options in SMC held by directors during BERED - RFRER-_E—RF+=A
the year and as at 31 December 2015 are as follows: T+ —RASESHRENBRRZEBRE
BT -

Stock options in San Miguel Corporation
EHERTIZBRE
Number Number
of options of options Number Number
outstanding granted/ of options of options
Exercise atthe (exercised) lapsed outstanding
Date Exercise price per heginning during during at the end
granted period up to option of the year the year the year of the year
(Philippine pesos)

ERRY,/
EARHEAGE (Bf) FREAN  FERHANHE
REEH  BLOERA SROEE  cRREHE  CRREEE  <RBREER  ZBREEA
(FREEZ)

Common (par value LE

of 5 Philippine (BHEES
pesos each): FEERZ)
Ramon S.Ang BEY 01/03/2007 01/03/2015 6350 993,386 - (993,386) -
(01/03/2007 01/03/2015 7550 662,258 - (662,258) -
26/06/2008 26/06/2016 4050 765,603 - - 765,603
25/06/2009 25/06/2017 58,05 587,556 — - 587,556
Carlos Antonio JEE 16/12/2010 16/12/2018 120.33 41,556 - - 41,556
M. Berba
Ramon G. Torralha HEE 16/12/2010 16/12/2018 12033 8991 - - 8991
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS (Continued)

(2)

20

INTERESTS IN UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

All interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company; its
holding companies, subsidiaries and other associated corporations
are long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the directors of the Company or any
of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age has interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or other
associated corporations, as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as adopted by the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES TERRNEGEIABKBGZIES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES
The Company has been notified of the following interests in the Company's ~ # =

;E_
issued shares at 31 December 2015 amounting to 5% or more of the ordinary  {hZA&RAA]
shares in issue: 1T 1 #E

EFE+-A=+—8 KAREEETS
BITE I 5% HIA LR R F B

2
EVa
m

Ordinary shares

ZiBER R
Number of

ordinary % of total
Substantial shareholders shares held issued shares
HERTRE
FERRK FEZEREAE B A
Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. 245,720,800 65.78%
San Miguel Corporation (note 1) EHB AR (st 245,720,800 65.78%
Kirin Holdings Company, Limited (note 1) BB R g2 (FIFE1) 245,720,800 65.78%
San Miguel Brewery Inc. (note 1) EAEERRA R (FiEE1) 245,720,800 65.78%

San Miguel Brewing International Limited & BB AR AR (FEE1)

(note 1) 245,720,800 65.78%
Neptunia Corporation Limited (note 1) SR BRAT (FEET) 245,720,800 65.78%
Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (note 2) RIEE (58) BRAR (M:E2) 23,703,000 6.34%
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (note 2) RIMEZEEARAR (H7E2) 23,703,000 6.34%
—
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

(1 Top Frontier, the ultimate holding company, SMC, Kirin Holdings Company,
Limited (“Kirin") (a principal shareholder of San Miguel Brewery Inc. (“SMB")),
SMB, and San Miguel Brewing International Limited ("SMBIL") are all deemed
to hold the above disclosed interest indirectly through Neptunia Corporation
Limited (“Neptunia”) in the Company because each of Top Frontier, SMC
and Kirin holds more than one third of the voting power of SMB. SMB has a
controlling interest in SMBIL and SMBIL has a controlling interest in Neptunia.

(2) Conroy Assets Limited, which holds 13,624,600 shares of the Company, and
Hamstar Profits Limited, which holds 10,078,400 shares of the Company, are
indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited (“CKH")
and CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CK Hutchison”).

By virtue of the SFO, CKH and CK Hutchison are deemed to be interested in
the shares of the Company held by Conroy Assets Limited and Hamstar Profits
Limited.

All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
are long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, no other interests required to be recorded in the
register kept under Section 336 of the SFO have been notified to the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Pursuant to an agreement dated 12 June 1963, Neptunia provides technical
and advisory services to the Company and may be paid a General Managers'
commission. Mr. Ramon S. Ang, Mr. Carlos Antonio M. Berba, Mr. Ramon
G. Torralba, Mr. Teruyuki Daino****, Mr. Takashi Hayashi, Mr. Roberto N.
Huang, Mr. Takeshi Wada, Mr. Reynato S. Puno and Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago
are interested parties to this contract to the extent that they have equity
interests in and/or are/were directors and/or officers of SMB, SMBIL, SMC and
Top Frontier, the ultimate holding company of Neptunia. General Managers'
commission has not been paid by the Company or charged by Neptunia since
the 1995 financial year.

Save as disclosed above, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or associated corporations
was a party, and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Q)]

TRADE-RELATED CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP

Purchases from/sales to the San Miguel Group

In order to comply with the Listing Rules, the Company entered into an
agreement with SMC on 7 March 2013 (the “Agreement”) with a view
to renewing the agreement to carry out the trade-related continuing
connected transactions from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2016
under the same terms and conditions as those under the agreements
entered into by SMC and the Company dated 6 December 2007,
11 May 2009 and 15 October 2010 in respect of such trade-related
continuing connected transactions.

The Agreement, including the trade-related continuing connected
transactions and the caps set for such transactions, was approved by
independent shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the
Company held on 19 April 2013.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Group entered into the following
trade-related continuing connected transactions during the year.

REX 7 RSHERERX S

(1

BEHGEEZRENGAFAERS

KEE HETEHEE

BHFAETRA - AAREE NARFR
—E—=F=ZAtHI Y htnEE (H
HE)RhMEFREN T —NF—A—
BE - ET—XRFt+_A=+—BH#E7EE
SEBNFERERS a2 Gk
BHERN T+ F+=-AB  ZZF
NWERR+—BER-Z—ZTF+A+EHAB
RANQRIEE NBRREF N 2 BB FER
MIFERER ZNIHBRER -

HHEE (BRABZAUNKERNERS
RitEZXH5ER) ER-_FT—=F0H
THERERR SRR RIASNEEL
PRI

RAFEER  AEEREHZELETAT
HESHERNTERERS -

2015 2015
—E-HF —ZET—hHF
Actual Cap
B LBR
Continuing connected transactions BERERS HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Purchase of packaging materials by REBRAENEE
the Group from the San Miguel Group BEBEME 4,635 89,000
Purchase of packaged beer by the Group AEEREHEEEE
from the San Miguel Group Rk il 2,941 6,800
Sales of packaged beer and non-alcoholic AEEMENEEHE
beverage products by the Group BB EER Kk IEEEE M
to the San Miguel Group, provided Em o ZEmMTERIERBEIHEE
that such sales or distribution of ($E A NEERR A B ERIN)
packaged beer shall not be carried
out in the Philippines, unless through
SMB
180,555 257,000
[
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(1

26

TRADE-RELATED CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
(Continued)

Purchases from/sales to the San Miguel Group (Continued)

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
such transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The auditors of the Company, KPMG, have confirmed in a letter to
the Board that nothing has come to their attention that caused them
to believe that the foregoing trade-related continuing connected
transactions as set out in the Agreement during the 2015 financial
year (i) had not been approved by the Board of the Company, (ii)
were not entered into in all material respects in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions, (i) had exceeded
the caps disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8
March 2013 and in the circular to shareholders dated 28 March 2013,
and (iv) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
GUANGZHOU BREWERY AND THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
RELATING TO LICENSING AGREEMENTS

Guangzhou San Miguel Brewery Company Limited ("GSMB”) is an
equity joint venture formed between San Miguel (Guangdong) Limited
("SMG") and Guangzhou Brewery (“GB") and is held as to 70% by
SMG and as to 30% by GB. SMG is a 92.989%-owned subsidiary of the
Company and GB is a connected person of the Company by virtue
of its substantial shareholding in GSMB. To facilitate the business
operations of GSMB, San Miguel International Limited (“SMIL") (a
member of the San Miguel Group) and GB have each granted GSMB
a licence to use their respective trademarks upon establishment
of GSMB (the “SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement” and the “GB
Trademark Licensing Agreement”, respectively).

Apart from the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement, the Group
has also entered into other licence agreements with certain other
members of the San Miguel Group: (i) the Neptunia Sub-licence
Agreement entered into between the Company and Neptunia (an
indirect subsidiary of SMC) and (ii) the SMBIL Sub-licence Agreement
entered into between SMGB and SMBIL (an indirect subsidiary of
SMC).

The directors (including the non-executive directors) consider that
the terms of the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement, the Neptunia
Sublicense Agreement, the SMBIL Sub-license Agreement (collectively,
the “San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements”) and the GB Trademark
Licensing Agreement, including their respective tenures which are
for more than three years, are on normal commercial terms, fair
and reasonable, and that the transactions contemplated under such
agreements are in the interests of the Company and the shareholders
as awhole.

REX 7 RISHEMER SR (#)

(2)
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2)

28

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
GUANGZHOU BREWERY AND THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
RELATING TO LICENSING AGREEMENTS (Continued)

The transactions under the San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements
(which have been aggregated as a single transaction for purposes
of the Listing Rules) and the GB Trademark Licensing Agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.34(1)
of the Listing Rules. The annual royalties payable by the Group under
each of (i) the San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements and (ii) the
GB Trademark Licensing Agreement shall be less than HK$10 million
for the year ended 31 December 2007 and each of the financial
years during the remaining term of the relevant licence/sub-licence
agreements. Based on this proposed cap, the transactions under
each of the (i) San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements and (ii) the GB
Trademark Licensing Agreement are only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements and are exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement.

An announcement was made by the Company on 19 September 2007
in this respect.

In relation to the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement and the
Neptunia Sub-licence Agreement, as per the payment instructions of
SMC dated 18 December 2000, all royalties receivable from GSMB and
the Company have been assigned and transferred to SMBIL effective
1 January 2000 until further notice.

On 1 April 2010, a Deed of Assignment was entered into between
SMIL, SMBIL and GSMB pursuant to which SMIL agreed to assign,
transfer and convey in favour of SMBIL all of SMIL's rights, title and
interest over the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement. Both SMBIL
and GSMB consented to such assignment pursuant to the Deed of
Assignment.

After the assignment, SMBIL became the licensor of the trademarks
licensed to GSMB under the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement. All
other terms of the SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement as assigned
to SMBIL remain unchanged. The transaction contemplated under the
SMIL Trademark Licensing Agreement as assigned to SMBIL continues
to constitute a continuing connected transaction for the Company
under the Listing Rules.

An announcement was made by the Company on 1 April 2010 in this
respect.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(2)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH
GUANGZHOU BREWERY AND THE SAN MIGUEL GROUP
RELATING TO LICENSING AGREEMENTS (Continued)

The amount of royalties paid to GB and the San Miguel Group for the
year ended 31 December 2015 were HK$2,116,000 and HK$151,000
respectively (2014: HK$2,146,000 and HK$151,000).

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
such transactions were:

— entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

— conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

— in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders and as a whole.

The auditors of the Company, KPMG, have confirmed in a letter to
the Board that nothing has come to their attention that caused them
to believe that the continuing connected transactions in respect of
the San Miguel Group Licensing Agreements and the GB Trademark
Licensing Agreement during the 2015 financial year (i) had not been
approved by the Board of the Company, (ii) were not entered into
in all material respects in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing such transactions, (iii) had exceeded the cap disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 19 September 2007, and
(iv) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group.

In anticipation of the expiration of the Neptunia Sub-licence
Agreement on 1 January 2016, an Extension Letter was signed by
Neptunia and by the Company on 30 October 2015 to extend the
term of the Neptunia Sub-licence Agreement for one year from 1
January 2016 to 31 December 2016 at nil consideration. Save for such
extension, all other terms of the Neptunia Sub-license Agreement
remain unchanged. An announcement was made by the Company on
30 October 2015 in this respect.
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125th anniversary in 2015.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(3)

OTHER CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS MADE WITH THE
SAN MIGUEL GROUP

The Group purchased brewing materials from the San Miguel Group
during the year, which amounted to HK$79,000 (2014: HK$241,000).
The Group also sold raw materials and packaging materials to
subsidiaries of SMC during the year, which amounted to HK$380,000
(2014: HK$NIl). These transactions are exempt from all the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
according to Chapter 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules (De minimis
transactions). Also, as set out in note 25(a) to the financial statements,
interest expense of HK$4,373,000 (2014: HK$4,253,000) was paid
for the loan from an intermediate holding company and advertising
and promotion subsidy of HK$24,895,000 (2014: HK$26,564,000)
was received from an intermediate holding company for promotion
of certain brands in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). These
transactions are also exempt from the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirement according to the
Chapter 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

The Group has complied with the requirements set out in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions stated above.
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the Hong Kong Dragon
Boat Carnival organized

by the Hong Kong
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong have sponsored a non-
contributory defined benefit scheme, The San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong
Limited Retirement Fund (the "Fund”), which covers local permanent
employees, and was registered in September 1995 under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance. The Fund'’s assets are held in trust and
administered by a trustee. The members’ benefits are determined based on
the employees’ final remuneration and length of service. Contributions to the
Fund are made in accordance with the recommendations of independent
actuaries who value the retirement scheme at regular intervals, usually
triennially.

The Fund was granted exemption from the Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF") regulations by the MPF Scheme Authority on 24 July 2000, following
modifications to the Fund benefits which comply with MPF regulations.

The latest actuarial assessment of the Fund was carried out as at 1 January
2014 and the results were as follows:

(1) the actuary of the Fund is Mr. J. Yip, Fellow of the Society of Actuaries.
In the actuarial valuation, the attained age method was used. Other
major assumptions used in the valuation were: investment return of 4%
per annum; long-term salary escalation of 5% per annum; mortality
rates under the 2011 Hong Kong Life Tables, normal retirement age of
60 years; and early retirement rates allowed between the ages 55 to
60 years.

2) the unaudited market value of the Fund assets was HK$71,953,000 as
at 1 January 2014.

(3) the minimum level of funding as recommended by the actuary of the

Fund was 17.8% of salaries for 2014, 2015 and 2016.

(4) the solvency surplus was HK$552,000, i.e. the obligation under the
Fund was 101% covered by the Fund’s assets, as at 1 January 2014.

Particulars of the employee retirement plans of the Company and the Group
are set out in note 20 to the financial statements.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s working capital at 31 December 2015 was net current assets of
HK$162,371,000 compared with HK$108,049,000 as at 31 December 2014.

The Group’s cash and bank deposits (excluding pledged deposits) as at
31 December 2015 were HK$148,600,000 (2014: HK$135,628,000) and are
sufficient to fund working capital requirements and capital expenditure in
2016.

LOANS

The Group has a loan from an intermediate holding company. Total
borrowings at 31 December 2015 for the Group were HK$190,747,000 (2014:
HK$190,889,000).

Particulars of the loan from an intermediate holding company of the
Company and the Group as at 31 December 2015 are set out in note 19 to
the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on page 131 of the Annual Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance section on pages 37 to 50 of the Annual
Report.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive directors

to be independent.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By order of the board

L

Ramon S. Ang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 4 February 2016

**%%  Mr. Teruyuki Daino has tendered his resignation as director of the Company
effective on 30 March 2016. Mr. Katsuhiko Matsumoto was nominated to fill
in the vacated office of Mr. Teruyuki Daino at the forthcoming Annual Genera

Meeting.
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San Mig Light has gained
significant presence in the
market with a consistent
double-digit growth since
its launch in 2010.




lax

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1 ¥&E8H &

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining compliance with statutory
and regulatory standards and adherence to the principles of corporate
governance emphasizing transparency, independence, accountability,
responsibility and fairness. The board and the senior management of the
Company ensure that effective self-regulatory practices exist to protect
the interests of the shareholders of the Company. These include a board
comprised of high calibre members, board committees and effective internal
systems and controls.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the CG Code throughout
year under review as contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save for
the deviation discussed below:

o All of the non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific term
(Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code) but are subject to retirement by
rotation once every three years and re-election at the annual general
meeting under the Company's Articles of Association.

The following sections set out the principles in the CG Code as they have
been applied by the Company, including any deviation therefrom, for the year
under review.

THE BOARD

As at 31 December 2015, the board comprised twelve Directors (one
executive director, who is the managing director, seven non-executive
directors and four independent non-executive directors) who possess the
skills, experience and expertise either in the same industry or relevant to the
management of the business of the Group. The biographies of the directors
are set out from pages 52 to 57 of this report under the “Directors and
Management Executives” section. There is no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship among the members of the board.

The management and control of the business of the Company is vested in its
board. It is the duty of the board to create value for the shareholders of the
Company, establish the Company's strategic direction, set the Company’s
objectives and plan in accordance therewith, and provide leadership and
ensure availability of resources in the attainment of such objectives. The
board is bound to manage the Company in a responsible and effective
manner, and therefore every director ensures that he carries out his duty
in good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

The board and the executive management have clearly defined
responsibilities under various internal control and checks-and-balance
mechanisms. The board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the
executive management of the Company. These responsibilities include:
implementation of the decisions of the board and organisation and direction
of the day-to-day operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the board;
preparation and monitoring of annual production plans and operating budget;
and control, supervision and monitoring of capital, technical and human
resources.

The board held four meetings during the year under review. The chief finance
officer and company secretary attended all the scheduled board meetings
to report matters arising from corporate governance, risk management,
statutory compliance, accounting and finance, and kept detailed minutes
of each meeting, which are available for all directors. At the meetings, the
directors discussed and formulated overall strategies for the Company,
monitored financial performance and discussed the annual and interim
results, as well as other significant matters. Daily operational matters are
delegated to management.

At least 14 days of notice of all board meetings was given to all directors, and
all directors were given the opportunity to include matters for discussion in
the agenda. An agenda and accompanying board papers are sent in full to all
directors at least three days before every board meeting.

The number of board meetings and committee meetings attended by each
director during the year under review is set out in the following table. Figure
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period in
which the individual was a board member or board committee member (as
the case may be).
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Scheduled Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
board committee committee committee General
meetings meetings meetings meetings Meeting
BEEEE EVEREE zas REZEE (&3
g3
Independent BIYFHTES
non-executive directors
David K.P. Li FEE 2/(4) 3/03) 2/2) 0/(1) 0/(1)
Ng Wai Sun U 2/(4) 2/03) 1/2) 1/(1) 1/01)
Carmelo L. Santiago i) 3/(4) 3/3) 2/(2) 0/(1) 0/(1)
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno 3/(4) N/A N/A 1/(1) 1/(1)
William C.M. Cheng HAIR
(Alternate to David K.P. Li) (FHEZEEEE) (1 0/2) 0/2) 0/2) N/A N/A
Adrian MK Li FRE
(Alternate to David K.P. L) (FEE7EHFEE) 2 0/(2) 0/(1) N/A 0/(1) 0/(1)
Executive director HITES
Ramon G. Torralba HEE
(Managing Director) (B17EZ) 4/(4) N/A N/A N/A 1/0)
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ramon S. Ang (Chairman) BEY(XF) 2/(8) N/A N/A N/A 1/0)
Carlos Antonio M. Berba HER
(Deputy Chairman) =ES:) 4/(8) N/A 2/2) N/A 1/(1)
ChanWen Mee, May (Michelle) — RZ% 2/(4) N/A N/A N/A 1/(1)
Teruyuki Daino RERE 4/8) N/A N/A 1/(1) 1/01)
Takashi Hayashi ML 4/(4) N/A N/A N/A 1/(1)
Roberto N. Huang B8R 4/(4) N/A 2/(2) N/A 1/(1)
Takeshi Wada MAR 4/(4) N/A N/A N/A /(1)
Notes: Bt
Q) Appointed as alternate director to Sir David on 18 April 2015. M ﬁ%i?ﬂi@ﬂﬂ\aﬁé&ﬁﬁ%izg
2 Resigned as alternate director to Sir David on 17 April 2015. o) NoE—FENA - ERETE+L Y BIE
S8
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THE CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The chairman of the board is Mr. Ramon S. Ang. The chief executive officer (or
managing director, in the case of the Company) is Mr. Ramon G. Torralba. The
chairman’s and the managing director’s roles are clearly defined to ensure
their independence, accountability and responsibility.

The chairman takes the lead in formulating overall strategies and policies
of the Company; ensures the effective performance by the board of its
functions, including compliance with good corporate governance practices;
and encourages and facilitates active contribution of directors in board
activities and constructive relations between executive and non-executive
directors. The chairman also ensures effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and receipt by the directors of adequate and
complete information. The role of deputy chairman is carried out by Mr.
Carlos Antonio M. Berba.

The managing director, supported by other board members and the senior
management, is responsible for managing the day-to-day business of the
Company. He is also accountable to the board for the implementation of the
Company'’s overall strategies, and coordination of overall business operations.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ INDEPENDENCE

As at the date of this report, the board consists of eleven non-executive
directors and one executive director. Four of the non-executive directors are
independent. Further details of the composition of the board can be found in
the section entitled “The Board"” of this report.

All of the non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific term, but
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meetings. Under the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors, including the non-executive directors, are subject to retirement,
rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Non-executive directors are expected to participate in the activities of the
board, particularly in the establishment of a selection process to ensure a
mix of competent directors and officers; adoption of a system of internal
checks and balances; scrutiny of the Company’s performance in achieving
agreed corporate goals and objectives; and ensuring that the exercise of
board authority is within the powers conferred to the board under its Articles
of Association, by-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ INDEPENDENCE (Continued)
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly skilled
professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience in the fields of
accounting, finance and business. Their skills, expertise and number in the
board ensure that strong independent views and judgment are brought in
the board’s deliberations and that such views and judgment carry weight in
the board’s decision-making process. Their presence and participation also
enable the board to maintain high standards of compliance in financial and
other mandatory reporting requirements, and provide adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company and the
Company.

Each independent non-executive director gives the Company an annual
confirmation of his independence. The Company considers such directors to
be independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Each director, upon reasonable request, is given access to independent
professional advice in circumstances he may deem appropriate and
necessary for the discharge of his duties to the Company, at the expense of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing all information
and representations contained in the financial statements of the Company
for the year under review. The directors consider that the financial statements
have been prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong, and reflect amounts that are based on the best
estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the board
and management with an appropriate consideration to materiality. As at 31
December 2015, the directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the directors have prepared the financial statements of
the Company on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to financial reporting
are set out in the section of “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 126 to
127.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems to safeguard the Company’s assets and
shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing the effectiveness of these
systems.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued) PRSI (1)

The board has conducted a review of the Company’s internal control systems
for the year ended 31 December 2015, including financial, operational and
compliance control and risk management functions and assessed the
effectiveness of internal control by considering reviews performed by the
audit committee, executive management, external advisor and internal
auditors.

Following the upgrading of the recommendation for issuers to have an
internal audit function to a code provision under the CG Code, the board
approved the adoption by the Company of an internal audit function in
October 2015. Pursuant to this, the three year internal audit plan was
approved by the audit committee and adopted by the board. As a member of
a group with multiple listed issuers, the Company will share in the San Miguel
group’s resources in carrying out its internal audit function. Accordingly, its
internal audit will be performed by the internal audit function of its parent
company, San Miguel Brewery Inc. The internal audit function will report to
the audit committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND DUTIES

The board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance
functions set out below:

(1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the board;

2 reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(3) reviewing and monitoring the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

To assist the directors in the discharge of their duties, the Company provides
every newly appointed director with a comprehensive induction program on
the first occasion of his appointment, where such directors are provided with
information on the Company’s organization and business; the membership,
duties and responsibilities of the board, board committees and senior
management; corporate governance practices and procedures; and latest
financial information on the operations of the Company. Such information
shall be supplemented with visits to the Company’s key plant sites and
meetings with key senior executives.

[
42

EEREMATHARARE_B—HF =7
=+-REENABME  BE ARRERE
20 BB HIERTE « MEIRA T HERER
&« EIREA R RO R A B
PR A FT -

moA

BEERITAREANERYENERD HARA/E
EEARTAITZTRIGY  EFECR-_F—1
F+ARERRRRAAREZINGE © B - &
REEEEHAERESESCRB=FNRNIER
HE - FRZRAEMETANEE AT -8 -
ARBE A ZENEENERAETERTEZ
e - ABBERSHBRRENEERABNA
REZINGLETT - AMERNERABREZES

M BIEERRNARANEEEARKES
o WREFSRENER

2 BAREREENSAEEABNEIK
SEEFRR

@ BRAREEARAEETEEREEMRTE
FTEABEREER

@ HE - R REREERERMNRTE
REHRFM (W0FE) &

) i AR AE ST R RE AT RINIER R E
(BEERRE) RHOHE -

EENIE

RMBEFETERE - AR SBUHZEN
EXHEHEAREZERREZEANRRAN AT
g ERESEBANERHABARRBERK
EBNER  EFE EFZESNEREREE
BKE - BENMEE  CEBATARER A
RARBEHHNRFABHER - RBBEERI
WENG2BARANIZHE  YEIESFR
TRABEMH -



lax

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ¥ &8 %

SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS (Continued)

Throughout their tenure, the directors shall be provided with updates on the
business of the Company, latest developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable legal and regulatory requirements, corporate social responsibility
matters and other changes affecting the Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the CG Code A.6.5, all directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.
The Company should be responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties
of the directors.

The directors confirm that they have complied with the CG Code on directors’
training. The Company had received from each of the directors their
confirmations on taking continuous professional training.

THE BOARD COMMITTEES
AUDIT COMMITTEE

For the year under review, the audit committee comprised three independent
non-executive directors: Mr. Ng Wai Sun, Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago and Dr.
the Hon. Sir David K. P Li, who acts as chairman of the committee. The audit
committee met three times in 2015 with full minutes kept by the company
secretary. Individual attendance of each committee member at these
meetings is shown in the table presented above.

Under its terms of reference, the audit committee shall assist the board in
fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities in relation
to financial reporting, internal control structure, risk management systems
and internal and external audit functions. The audit committee is further
authorised by the board to investigate any activity within its terms of
reference, and is tasked with recommending to the board appropriate actions
emanating from such investigations. The audit committee has unrestricted
access to personnel, records, internal and external auditors, risk assessment
and assurance and senior management, as may be appropriate in the
discharge of its functions.

In October 2015, the board approved the enhancement of the audit
committee’s oversight function with respect to risk management systems by
including, as part of the specific responsibilities of the audit committee in its
terms of reference, the responsibility to discuss risk management systems
with management to ensure effectiveness of the system and to consider
major investigation findings on risk management and management'’s
response to such findings. The amendment in the audit committee’s terms of
reference shall be effective beginning 2016.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

In 2015, the audit committee discharged its responsibilities by:

M making recommendations to the board on the reappointment of
the external auditor and approval of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

2 monitoring the external auditor's independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards, and discussing with the external auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations;

() implementing the Company's policy on the engagement of an external
auditor to supply non-audit services;

(4) reviewing, and monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of
the Company and the Company’s annual and interim reports and the
auditors’ report to ensure that the information presents a true and
balanced assessment of the Company’s financial position;

(5) reviewing the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems to ensure that management has discharged its
duty to have an effective internal control system;

(6) ensuring the coordination between the internal and external auditors
and that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and
monitoring the effectiveness of the audit function;

7) reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies and
practices,

(8) reviewing the external auditor's management letter, material queries
raised by the external auditor to the management in respect of the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and the
management’s response to such queries; and

9) reporting to the board on the matters set out in the CG Code on the
audit committee.

The audit committee is authorised by the board to obtain external legal or
other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of
outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers necessary
in the performance of its functions. The audit committee is provided with
sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its duties. The audit
committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any
shareholders of the Company and are posted on the Company’s website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year under review, the total fees in respect of audit and non-audit
services (mainly tax review and corporate governance review) provided to the
Company and its subsidiaries by external auditors amounted to HK$3,744,000
(2014: HK$3,299,000) and HKS$NIl (2014: HKS$NIl), respectively.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely, Dr. the Hon. Sir David K.P. Li, Mr. Ng Wai Sun and Mr.
Carmelo L. Santiago, and two non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Carlos
Antonio M. Berba and Mr. Roberto N. Huang. The remuneration committee
is chaired by an independent non-executive director, Mr. Ng Wai Sun. The
remuneration committee met twice in 2015 with full minutes kept by the
company secretary. Individual attendance of each committee member at
these meetings is shown in the table presented above.

The primary role of the remuneration committee under its terms of reference
is to support and advise the board in fulfilling the board’s responsibility to the
shareholders of the Company to:

Q) establish coherent remuneration policies and practices that will be
observed and enable the Company to attract and retain top caliber
executives and directors,

2) fairly and responsibly reward executives based on their performance
and the performance of the Company, and the general pay

environment; and

) comply with the CG Code Provisions on remuneration of directors,

mainly by:
o determining executive and director remuneration policy;,
o determining the remuneration of executive directors upon

consultation with the chairman or managing director regarding
their proposals for such remuneration;

o reviewing and approving the remuneration of the executives
who directly report to the managing director, and as

appropriate, other senior management; and

o reviewing and approving all equity based plans.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The remuneration committee has the right to seek any information it
considers necessary to fulfil its duties, which includes the right to obtain
appropriate external advice at the Company’s expense, and is provided with
sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its duties. The remuneration
committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any
shareholders of the Company and are posted on the Company’s website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

During the year under review, the committee reviewed the remuneration
package of managing director and key senior executives. As recommended,
no directors’ fees will be paid for the year 2015.

Details of the remuneration of directors for the year ended 31 December
2015 are set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee comprises one non-executive director, namely
Mr. Teruyuki Daino and four independent non-executive directors: Dr. the
Hon. Sir David K. P. Li, Mr. Ng Wai Sun, Mr. Reynato S. Puno and Mr. Carmelo
L. Santiago. The nomination committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive director, Mr. Carmelo L. Santiago. The nomination committee met
once in 2015 with full minutes kept by the company secretary. Individual
attendance of each committee member at the meeting is shown in the table
presented above.

Under its terms of reference, proceedings and meetings of the committee
will be governed by the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association
for regulating the proceedings and meetings of the board of the Company
in so far as they are applicable and not inconsistent with the nomination
committee’s terms of reference. The primary purpose of the committee is to
support and advise the board in fulfilling their responsibilities to shareholders
in ensuring that the board comprises individuals who are best able to
discharge the responsibilities of directors having regard to the law and the
highest standards of governance by:

(1) assessing the skills required on the board,

2) from time to time assessing the extent to which the required skills are
represented on the board;

(3) establishing the process for the review of the performance of
individual directors and the board as a whole;

(4) establishing the process for the identification of suitable candidates
for appointment to the board; and

(5) having oversight of matters relating to corporate governance by
bringing any issues to the attention of the board.
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The nomination committee has the following responsibilities:

(1) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the board regarding any proposed changes;

2 identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members and
select or make recommendations to the board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

(3) assess the independence of independent non-executive directors,

(4) make recommendations to the board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer;

(5) have oversight of all matters relating to corporate governance; and

(6) being entitled to employ, at the Company’s expense, the services of
such advisers as it deems necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.

The nomination committee has the right to seek any information it
considers necessary to fulfil its duties, which includes the right to obtain
appropriate external advice at the Company’s expense, and is provided with
sufficient resources by the Company to discharge its duties. The nomination
committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any
shareholders of the Company and are posted on the Company'’s website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

CODE OF CONDUCT ON DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities transactions and
dealings (the “Code of Conduct”) based on the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The terms of the Code of Conduct are no
less exacting than the standards in the Model Code, and the Code of Conduct
applies to all the relevant persons as defined in the Code, including the
directors of the Company, any employee of the Company, or a director or
employee of a subsidiary or holding company of the Company who, because
of such office or employment, are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its securities.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors of the Company who have
confirmed in writing their compliance with the required standards set out in
the Code of Conduct during the year under review.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS ERERAYEE

The Company attaches great priority to establishing effective communications
with its shareholders and investors. In an effort to enhance such
communications, the Company provides information relating to the Company
and its business in its annual report and also disseminates such information
electronically through its website, info.sanmiguel.com.hk.

The Company also published its ESG Report on its website, info.sanmiguel.
com.hk. 1t is the initial effort of the Company to communicate to our
stakeholders in a broad manner the relevant environmental, social and
governance initiatives that the Company has made in reference to Appendix
27 of the Listing Rules. The 2015 ESG report will be published in the
Company'’s website no later than three months after the publication of the
Company’s annual report.

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important event
as it provides an opportunity for direct communications between the board
and its shareholders. All directors and senior management make an effort to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company to address shareholders'
queries. All the shareholders of the Company are given a minimum of twenty
business days' notice of the date and venue of the annual general meeting of
the Company. The Company supports the CG Code’s principle to encourage
shareholders’ participation.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

To ensure that the business of the Group is conducted in the highest
standards of fairness, transparency and accountability, the board has
approved the Whistleblowing Policy of the Company, effective from
1 November 2015. The Whistleblowing Policy establishes procedures and
channels through which the Company’s directors, employees and other
interested parties may communicate concerns, in confidence, about any
misconduct or improprieties affecting the Group. The complete text of
the Whistleblowing Policy has been posted on the Company website,
info.sanmiguel.com.hk.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
CALLING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 68 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings may also be convened on requisition as
provided by Sections 566, 567 and 568 of the new Companies Ordinance. The
directors are required to call a general meeting if the Company has received
requests to do so from shareholders of the Company representing at least
5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at
general meetings. The request must state the general nature of the business
to be dealt with at the meeting; and may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.
Requests may consist of several documents in like form. The request may
be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form; and must
be authenticated by the person or persons making it. The directors must,
within twenty-one days after the date on which they become subject to the
requirement, call an extraordinary general meeting which must be held on
a date not more than twenty-eight days after the date on which the notice
convening the meeting is given. If the directors fail to convene the general
meeting, the shareholders who requested the meeting, or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves call an extraordinary general meeting. The meeting must be
called for a date not more than three months after the date on which the
directors become subject to the requirement to call a meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

Shareholders holding not less than 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a relevant right to vote; or not less than fifty shareholders
who have a relevant right to vote may:

— circulate to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice
of a general meeting, a statement of not more than 1000 words with
respect to (a) a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution to be dealt
with at that meeting; or (b) other business to be dealt with at that
meeting; or

— request the Company to give, to members of the Company entitled to
receive notice of the annual general meeting, notice of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting.

For further details on the shareholder qualifications, and the procedures and
timeline, in connection with the above, shareholders are kindly requested to
refer to Sections 580 and 615 of the new Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING (Continued)

Further, a shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring director
of the Company for election as a director at a general meeting at which
elections to the office of directors are to be considered. The following
documents must be submitted, no later than seven days before the date of
the general meeting, to the Company at its principal office at 9/F, Citimark
Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu Lek Yuen, Shatin, New Territories, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary: (a) the Director Nomination
Form with the required supporting documents, (b) the candidate’s resume;
and (c) a written statement signed by the candidate of his/her willingness
to be elected together with (i) that candidate’s information as required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; (i) the candidate’s written
consent to the publication of his/her personal data; and (iii) confirmation
that there are no grounds for his/her ineligibility and incompatibility to
act as a director and that he/she satisfies the integrity and, if applicable,
independence requirements under the applicable Listing Rules.

SENDING ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company'’s Registrar. Shareholders and the investment community may at
any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publicly available. Shareholders may also make enquiries
to the board by writing to the Company Secretary at the Company’s office
in Hong Kong at 9/F, Citimark Building, 28 Yuen Shun Circuit, Siu Lek Yuen,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS

Ramon S. ANG Chairman

Carlos Antonio M. BERBA Deputy Chairman
Ramon G. TORRALBA Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

May (Michelle) CHAN Wen Mee
Teruyuki DAINO

Takashi HAYASHI

Roberto N. HUANG

Takeshi WADA

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po

NG Wai Sun

Reynato S. PUNO

Carmelo L. SANTIAGO

William CHENG Chuk Man, Alternate to Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po

Mr. Ramon S. ANG, 8SME, aged 62, is the Chairman and a non-executive
Director of the Company. He has been appointed as the Chairman since 10
June 2005 and a non-executive Director of the Company since 27 November
1998. He is the Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of Top Frontier
Investment Holdings, Inc., the ultimate parent company of the Company
(the shares of which are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange) and Petron
Corporation (the shares of which are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange),
Vice Chairman, President and Chief Operating Officer of San Miguel
Corporation (“SMC") (the shares of which are listed on the Philippine Stock
Exchange) and the Chairman of San Miguel Brewery Inc. Mr. Ang also holds
the following positions: the Vice Chairman of Ginebra San Miguel, Inc. (the
shares of which are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange) and San Miguel
Pure Foods Company Inc. (the shares of which are listed on the Philippine
Stock Exchange), and the Chairman of Liberty Telecoms Holdings, Inc. (the
shares of which are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange) and Petron
Malaysia Refining & Marketing Berhad (the shares of which are listed on the
Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange). Mr. Ang is also the Chairman, President and/
or Director of various subsidiaries of SMC. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Mechanical Engineering from Far Eastern University.
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Mr. Carlos Antonio M. BERBA, MBA, MSc, BSc, aged 51, was appointed as
Deputy Chairman and Remuneration Committee member of the Company
on 27 August 2010. Mr. Berba has been a Director of the Company since 16
April 2007. He is the Managing Director of San Miguel Brewing International
Limited, a Director of Neptunia Corporation Limited (a controlling shareholder
of the Company), and a Director of San Miguel Brewery Inc. He is also a
Commissioner of PT Delta Djakarta Tbk (the shares of which are listed on
the Jakarta and Surabaya Stock Exchanges), a Director of San Miguel Beer
(Thailand) Limited, San Miguel Holdings (Thailand) Ltd., San Miguel Marketing
(Thailand) Limited, and various other subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Berba
has 30 years of experience in general management, finance, strategic
planning, and corporate structuring initiatives. Mr. Berba graduated from the
University of the Philippines with a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical
Engineering. He later obtained a Master's degree in Business Administration
(with distinction) from the Wharton School of Business, University of
Pennsylvania and a Master’s degree in Japanese Business Studies from
Japan America Institute of Management Science & Chaminade University of
Honolulu.

Mr. Ramon G. TORRALBA, cr4, Bsc, aged 59, was appointed as an executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company with effect from 15
January 2013. Mr. Torralba was the Vice President and Manager for Export
Development of San Miguel Brewing International Limited (a subsidiary
of San Miguel Brewery Inc.) since 2007. He was also a Director of San
Miguel (Thailand) Company, Ltd. from 2006 to 2007 and Vice President and
Commercial Director of San Miguel Marketing (Thailand) Ltd. from 2004
to 2007. He was also Assistant Vice President-Consultant for Guangzhou
San Miguel Brewery Co. Ltd., San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Co. Ltd. and
San Miguel (Baoding) Brewery Co. Ltd. of the Beer Division of San Miguel
Corporation from 2002-2004. Mr. Torralba graduated from Zamboanga
A.E. Colleges with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Commerce, major in
Accounting. He also attended the Management Development Program at
the Asian Institute of Management (International School of Business and
Management) in the Philippines in 1991. Mr. Torralba is a Certified Public
Accountant and a member of the Philippine Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Ms. May (Michelle) CHAN Wen Mee, aged 51, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 11 March 2011. Ms. Chan serves as Managing Director
of A.S. Watson Industries Limited. She served as Managing Director of
Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited from 1 February 2006 to 31 October 2010
and served as Executive Deputy Managing Director of Hutchison Harbour
Ring Limited from 18 May 2005 to 31 January 2006. Ms. Chan has extensive
experience in managing property development and investment businesses in
mainland China. She also holds directorships in certain companies controlled
by Hutchison Whampoa Limited. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor's degree in
Business Administration.

Mr. Teruyuki DAINO, vBA, BS, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 20 May 2011. Mr. Daino is a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He is the Executive Vice President
and a Director of San Miguel Brewery Inc. He is a Director of San Miguel
Brewing International Limited, San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited and San
Miguel Holdings (Thailand) Ltd. He was the Executive Financial Advisor of
San Miguel Brewery Inc. (April-October 2011) and served in the Kirin group
of companies in various capacities. Mr. Daino graduated from Hitotsubashi
University in 1983 with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics and later obtained a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from the Massachusetts Institute
of Technology in 1998.

Mr. Takashi HAYASHI, 8econ, aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 25 April 2014. Mr. Hayashi is the Executive
Financial Advisor and a Director of San Miguel Brewery Inc. He is also a
Director of San Miguel Brewing International Limited and San Miguel Beer
(Thailand) Limited. Mr. Hayashi served in the Kirin group of companies
in various capacities. Mr. Hayashi graduated from Keio University with a
Bachelor's degree in Economics in 1989. He is a Chartered Member of the
Securities Analysts Association of Japan.
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Mr. Roberto N. HUANG, mBA, BSME, aged 67, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director and a member of Remuneration Committee of the
Company with effect from 8 November 2012. Mr. Huang is a Director and
President of San Miguel Brewery Inc. He is also a Director of San Miguel
Brewing International Limited, and the Chairman and President of Iconic
Beverages, Inc., Brewery Properties Inc., and Brewery Landholdings, Inc. He
also served as the General Manager of San Miguel Brewery Inc. (2007-2009).
Mr. Huang graduated from Mapua Institute of Technology with a Bachelor
of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering and completed academic
requirements for a Master’s degree in Business Administration from De La
Salle University. He also attended the Nagoya International Training Center,
Japan International Cooperation Agency Grant for Metal Works Engineering
and Numerical Control Machines course.

Mr. Takeshi WADA, aged 55, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 19 April 2013. Mr. Wada is a Director
and the Executive Vice President of San Miguel Brewing International Ltd. He
is also a Director of San Miguel Beer (Thailand) Limited, San Miguel Holdings
(Thailand) Ltd. and San Miguel Marketing (Thailand) Ltd. He also served in
the Kirin group of companies in various capacities. Mr. Wada graduated from
University of Tokyo (Faculty of Law) in 1984.

Dr. the Hon. Sir David LI Kwok-po, GBM, GBS, OBE, JF. MA Cantab. (Economics &
Law), Hon. LLD (Cantab), Hon. DSc. (Imperial), Hon. LLD (Warwick), Hon. DBA (Edinburgh Napier),

Hon. D.Hum.Litt. (Trinity, USA), Hon. LLD (Hong Kong), Hon. DSocSc (Lingnan), Hon. DLitt (Macquarie),
Hon. DSocSc (CUHK), FCA, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.), FCIB, FHKIB, FBCS, CITR. FCIArb, Officier de I'Ordre
de la Couronne, Grand Officer of the Order of the Star of Italian Solidarity, The Order of the Rising
Sun, Gold Rays with Neck Ribbon, Commandeur dans I'Ordre National de la Légion d’Honneur,
aged 76, was appointed on 22 March 1991, is an independent non-executive
Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Sir David is
the Chairman and Chief Executive of The Bank of East Asia, Limited (listed in
Hong Kong). He is the Chairman of The Chinese Banks' Association Limited
and the Honorary Chairman of The Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies.
He is also a member of the Council of the Treasury Markets Association. Sir
David is an independent non-executive Director of Guangdong Investment
Limited, The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited, The Hongkong and
Shanghai Hotels, Limited, PCCW Limited, SCMP Group Limited and Vitasoy
International Holdings Limited (all listed in Hong Kong). Sir David was a
Director of CaixaBank, S.A. (listed in Spain), an independent non-executive
Director of China Overseas Land & Investment Limited (listed in Hong Kong), a
non-independent non-executive Director of AFFIN Holdings Berhad (listed in
Malaysia) and a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong from 1985 to
2012.
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Mr. NG Wai Sun, aged 72, was appointed on 1 April 2001, is an independent
non-executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
Ng is Chairman of Jibsen Capital (Holdings) Limited, a Director of the Tung
Wah Group of Hospitals (2004-2006 and 2011-2013), member of the Standing
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, Ambassador of Friendship of Shandong
Province in China and an Executive Director of the Fujian Normal University.
In 2013, Mr. Ng was awarded “Bronze Bauhinia Star” by the Government of
the HKSAR and “Honorary Citizen of Shandong Province” by the Governor of
Shandong Province, China respectively.

Mr. Reynato S. PUNO, mcL, Lim, LLB, aged 75, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and Nomination Committee member of
the Company from 8 November 2012. Mr. Puno is an independent Director
of San Miguel Corporation (the shares of which are listed on the Philippine
Stock Exchange) since 2011 and an Independent Commissioner of PT Delta
Djakarta Tbk (the shares of which are listed on the Jakarta and Surabaya Stock
Exchanges). Mr. Puno served as the Chief Justice of the Philippine Supreme
Court from 6 December 2006 until his retirement on 17 May 2010. He also
served previously as an Associate Justice of the Supreme Court, Associate
Justice of the Court of Appeals and Appellate Justice of the Intermediate
Appellate Court. Mr. Puno completed his Bachelor of Laws from the University
of the Philippines in 1962, and has a Master of Laws degree from the
University of California in Berkeley (1968) and a Master in Comparative Law
degree from the Southern Methodist University, Dallas, Texas (1967).
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Mr. William CHENG Chuk Man, vBa, FcaA, FcpA, aged 56, is Group Chief
Financial Officer of The Bank of East Asia, Limited. He is currently a Director
of The Hong Kong Settlers Housing Corporation Limited. He was previously a
member of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance) during the period
from 1998 to 2007. Mr. Cheng holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of Sydney in Australia, and a Bachelor of
Commerce (Accounting) degree from the University of Birmingham in Britain.
He is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Carmelo L. SANTIAGO, 884, aged 73, is an independent non-executive
Director, Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is an
independent Director of the following companies: San Miguel Brewery Inc.,
San Miguel Pure Foods Company, Inc. (the shares of which are listed on the
Philippine Stock Exchange), and Liberty Telecoms Holdings Inc. (the shares
of which are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange). Mr. Santiago is the
founder and owner of several branches of Melo’s restaurant in the Philippines
and a Director of Terbo Concept, Inc., a Philippine company engaged in retail
and food business. He was a Director of the Company from 27 February 2003
to 23 February 2005. Having over 40 years of directorate positions in various
companies in the Philippines and Hong Kong, Mr. Santiago has extensive
experience in foods, beverages, publication, properties, power and banking
industries.
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MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVES

Ramon G. Torralba
Managing Director

John K.L. Cheung
Chief Finance Officer & Company Secretary

Raymond N.L. Cheng
General Sales Manager

Eric PK. Lam
Marketing Director

Ric W.T. Yeung
Senior Manager — Logistics

C.K.Ho
Senior Manager — Operations

Steven Co
Senior Manager — Corporate Development

Edith Y.M. Ng

Senior Manager — Human Resources & Administration

Eric W.M. Cheung

Senior Manager — Information Technology (appointed on 1 January 2015)

Vincent K.M. Kwok

Managing Director, Guangzhou San Miguel Brewery Company Limited

William B. Montalbo

Plant Manager/Brewmaster, San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Company Limited

Mr. Ramon G. TORRALBA, Managing Director. Please refer to the Directors

section on page 53 for details.

Mr. John K.L. CHEUNG, MBA, BBA, aged 52, Chief Finance Officer & Company
Secretary, joined the Company in 1997. Mr. Cheung is a member of the
Institute of Management Accountants. He has over 30-year solid experience
in finance and accounting in various industries. Mr. Cheung received a
Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree, both in Business Administration,

from Georgia State University, USA.
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BAENGRBERART ZE—HEFFR

DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT EXECUTIVES EERTHEEAE

Mr. Raymond N.L. CHENG, reDBA, 8Sc, aged 52, General Sales Manager,
joined the Company in 2013. Mr. Cheng has 30 years of working experience,
with more than 17 years of solid experience in leading sales department or
holding full profit and loss responsibilities.

Mr. Eric P.K. LAM, mBA, BA, aged 51, Marketing Director, joined the Company
in 2008. Mr. Lam has over 22 years of solid experience in marketing in various
industries.

Mr. Ric W.T. YEUNG, B84, aged 52, Senior Manager — Logistics, joined the
Company in 1983. Mr. Yeung has more than 32 years of extensive experience
in supply planning, procurement and physical distribution.

Mr. C.K. HO, wmsc, pip, aged 57, Senior Manager — Operations, joined the
Company in 1988. Mr. Ho has over 27 years of service with the Company. He
has extensive experience in the operations of beer production.

Mr. Steven CO, B4, aged 46, Senior Manager — Corporate Development,
joined San Miguel Brewing Group of San Miguel Corporation in 1994. Mr.
Co has more than 21 years of experience in business planning, business
research, corporate affairs and quality management in the Company.

Ms. Edith Y.M. NG, vBA, Dip, aged 53, Senior Manager — Human Resources
& Administration, joined the Company in 1989. Ms. Ng has gained over
29 years of experience in the fields of marketing, sales and human resources.

Mr. Eric W.M. CHEUNG, DBA, MBA, Msc, BSc, aged 53, Senior Manager —
Information Technology, joined the Company in 1993. Mr. Cheung has over
29 years of solid experience in the operations and management of the
Information Technology functions.

Mr. Vincent K.M. KWOK, MBA, BBA, aged 47, was appointed as the Managing
Director of Guangzhou San Miguel Brewery Company Limited on 1 January
2011. Mr. Kwok joined the Company in 2003. He has more than 24 years of
solid experience in marketing in various industries.

Mr. William B. MONTALBO, Bsche, aged 52, Plant Manager/Brewmaster of
San Miguel (Guangdong) Brewery Company Limited. Mr. Montalbo joined San
Miguel Brewery Inc. in 1988. He has extensive working experience in both
Domestic and International Operations. Mr. Montalbo graduated from De La
Salle University with a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering.
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STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

n\:% E n l.c I:I *ﬁ

Years ended 31 December, in Hong Kong dollar thousands except
per share data and number of personnel

BET-A=+—HIFE KSR

Win 8iB & 8 T ABIMGIABEE TILatE

Ten Year Review +F 1B
2015 2014 2013
—E-AfF —E-mE —F—=

Revenue (1) WA (1) 569,502 728,640 687,093
(Loss)/profit from operations (4) K (B1E) &R ©8) (11,555) 41,635 28,674
(Loss)/profit for the year before RetEAHFL 2

restructuring costs (4) (F518) /&7 (4) (16,909) 36,994 25,824
Restructuring costs (2) BHEAZ (2 — — —
(Loss)/profit for the year (4) FE (BB /&F ©4) (16,909) 36,994 25,824
Taxes paid, including beer tax IR S BT 15,984 20,670 19,614
Cash dividends attributable to the year FEBERERKRE — 7,472 3,736
Cash dividends per share (cents) RIS (L) — 2 1
Fixed assets and projects under development — EEBENZEEFIAR 597,381 621,309 635,893
Net worth (3) F1E (3) 544,986 571,949 543,678
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMER 118,421 116,888 106,631
Number of personnel (5) BT A& (5) 549 566 587
Q)] Revenue has been adjusted where discounts, beer duty and consumption tax have been set-off with the gross revenue.
2 Restructuring costs in 2007 represented restructuring activities of the Company, while restructuring costs in 2006 represented restructuring activities

of Guangzhou San Miguel Brewery Company Limited.
©) Net worth for the 2006 to 2008 have been restated for a change in accounting policy for intangible assets.
(4) Profit from operations, profit before restructuring costs and profit for 2012 have been restated for the change in accounting policy for employee
benefits.

(5) Number of personnel represents actual headcount as of the last working day of the year.
|
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STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS £&& &35t #r

Years ended 31 December, in Hong Kong dollar thousands except HE+-_A=1+—HLLFE  BESK
per share data and number of personnel AP EIE & B TABIMNILABEE T ILat &
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
= =% —E-EF —E2ENF —E2E)N\F —ZETLF ZETRF
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(BE5]) (B575) (B55) (BE5)
686,362 683,879 589,322 696,824 753,375 754,833 826,817
243,428 (48,365) (770,605) (331,879) (301,033) 4,962 (10,625)
226,976 (68,638) (773,987) (343,052) (258,155) 50,397 (12,216)
— = — — — (310,220) (93,159)
226,976 (68,638) (773,987) (343,052) (258,155) (259,823) (105,375)
26,683 36,009 42,020 68,877 102,485 140,831 127,007
654,678 389,671 398,011 1,087,198 1,379,561 1,496,910 1,769,377
511,836 297,223 391,474 1,169,484 1,490,925 1,751,565 1,975,617
104,724 101,023 96,719 99,341 91,656 105,510 118,836
606 635 732 766 766 838 768

M WA BTN - BT S S A e R -

@) “ET LR BARXEARRZEBEES M _TTREF L EERXEEMENREERAR 2 EHREE -
@) TETRFECTT \FFECHENEEZ SR NEED -

(@) KERF Rt EERX 2 BNE T ——F 2 BFNEREE BN 2 ST BERNE ST -

(5) BT AZENFERZ —BATERZ2ERETHA -
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT &&=+

For the year ended 31 December 2015 BHE_T—RAF+t-A=1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABHEETE)
2015 2014
—E-hfF —PuE

Note $'000 $'000

BaE F Tt
Revenue PN 3 569,502 728,640
Cost of sales SHE A (331,846) (416,883)
Gross profit EF 237,656 311,757
Other net income H iz %58 4 39,837 55,358
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (197,195) (230,005)
Administrative expenses TR SZ (83,784) (85,217)
Other operating expenses Hib & RY (8,069) (10,258)
(Loss)/profit from operations ®eE (FE) BR (11,555) 41,635
Finance costs Mi5EA 5(a) (4,498) (4,408)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBiAT (B18) BF 5 (16,053) 37,227
Income tax A5 6 (856) (233)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BR) BA (16,909) 36,994
Attributable to: FEEmT :
Equity shareholders of the Company KARIERIEZEEAA (16,074) 35,323
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR A (835) 1,671
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (FE8) 27 (16,909) 36,994
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (FE) BA
Basic (cents) ZR (L) 10(a) (4) 9
Diluted (cents) 5 (L) 10(b) N/A TiE A N/A “NiE

The notes on pages 68 to 125 form part of these financial statements. Details of — ZJRF 68 & 125 & 72 L IBM i AR Bﬁﬁﬂqﬁ&i’%z—%ﬁ
dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the (l0ss)/ 5 o ANEE AR BEZFIEE A2 IR B EEH LA I
profit for the year are set out in note 22(b). FE22(b) °

—
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4 & 2 HEUNEF

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE—T—HFT-A=+—HILER

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (CABHEETE)
2015 2014
—ZE-hfF —E—MF
Note $'000 $'000
B e F T
(Loss)/profit for theyear  FE®R BN (16,909) . s |
Other comprehensive income FEHMB2ERE (REEE)
for the year (after tax) 9
Items that may be reclassified subsequently B e EF A B AEE
to profit or l0ss
Exchange differences on translation of: bE R ZER
— financial statements of subsidiaries — MEEINFB A BB R
outside Hong Kong FrEA ZEN =58 22,077 1,282
— monetary items that form part of the net — BB AR EERHE A A
investment in subsidiaries outside ZIHEMEEIEE FTEA
Hong Kong ZEHERR (22,499) (1,230)
(422) 52
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or 0SS # T & FEZHH A 1826978 B
Actuarial losses of defined ERERAIRIRGTE 2 BB e
benefit retirement plan (5,896) (1,517)
(6,318) (1,465)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2MEKFHALE (23,227) 35,529
Attributable to: BEfRaT :
Equity shareholders of the Company RARE=FEA (24,134) 33,747
Non-controlling interests AR A 907 1,782
Total comprehensive income for the year SEZ2HERIFATE (23,227) 35,529

The notes on pages 68 to 125 form part of these financial statements.

SR 685 1255 2 &AM A KRS B#E 2 —

1/‘\ °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %r& Bt #& AR 3=

RZE—RF+=-A=+—H

At 31 December 2015
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LABREEE)

2015 2014
—E-HF TN
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 F Tt
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME o IR NERE 1(a) 416,822 452,050
Investment properties LB 1(a) 98,457 82,750
Interests in leasehold land held for EREHETERMES
own use under operating leases TR E e 11(a) 82,102 86,509
597,381 621,309
Intangible assets mREE 12 5,163 5,187
602,544 626,496
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 14 52,431 51,425
Trade and other receivables FEURE 5 K E M ARIE 15 68,772 82,639
Amounts due from holding companies il ezl oNE])
and fellow subsidiaries KRR B A RERIE 16 7,157 11,490
Amounts due from related companies FEU RA:E A RIBRIE 16 262 665
Bank deposits RITFER 17 50,882 27,054
Cash and cash equivalents Re MERBESIAR 17 97,718 108,574
277,222 281,847
current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables EAE S R EMERIE 18 (104,460) (111,818)
Loan from an intermediate holding company RN R AT ZER 19 — (50,904)
Amounts due to holding companies FERHZEAR A B
and fellow subsidiaries B EINIEPNGIERE 16 (5,375) (5,414)
Amounts due to related companies FEERiE A RIBRIE 16 (5,016) (5,671)
(114,851) (173,807)
Net current assets REBEEFE 162,371 108,040
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EEHmERAR —E-RFFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 December 2015
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RZT—RAF+=_A=+—H
(LABHETHE)

2015 2014
—E-HF TN
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 T Tt
Total assets less current liabilites ~~~~ #RERA#®EE 00000 764915 st
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Loan from an intermediate holding company AR A Al 2 B 19 (190,747) (139,985)
Retirement benefit liabilities RRRANEE 20(a) (26,939) (20,115)
Deferred tax liabilities EERERE 21(a) (2,243) (2,487)
(219,929) (162,587)
NET ASSETS EEFE 544,986 571,949
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR #E
Share capital R A 22(c) 252,524 252,524
Other reserves H{th 319,516 347,386
Total equity attributable to equity AN TIERTE ABGER
shareholders of the Company 572,040 599,910
Non-controlling interests RS (27,054) (27,961)
TOTAL EQUITY A 544,986 571,949

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 4 February 2016.

L

Ramon S. Ang
Director

BEEX
BEF

The notes on pages 68 to 125 form part of these financial statements.

Ramon G. Torralba

Director

KAREFEN T F = AN BHERZETE -

HEH
BF

FIMNEE 68125 B 2 RIBM AR IRK 2 — &

{/\ °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY a8 EZ & B &R

For the year ended 31 December 2015
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_T—
(ABHETE)

AFE+-A=+—HLLEFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RATEEREARERG
Exchange Non-
Share Share Capital ~ fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests equity
EXRE
RE  RGEE  ERRE i WERE i FERER  ERAE
(note 22(c)) (note 22(a)(i)  (note 22(d)(i)
(F220) (P 2200)0) (B2 22(c)i)
Note $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000 $000 $'000 $000
i T I A T I av L T
Balance at 1 January 2014 R-E-mg
S i ... S o8 6679 N0 B0 epr S ) 36l
Changes in equity for 2014: “E-MERRED:
Profit for the year EREM - - - — 35,323 35,323 1,671 36,994
Other comprehensive income = il 9 = = = (59) (1517) (1,576) " (1,465)
Total comprehensive income FEEANGRE
o T T A o) Bk xm L
Dividends approved in respect L-IHEEE
0f the previous year ZIRE 2(0) = = = = (3736) (3,736) = (3736)
Transition to no-par value regime M =S-M4&
0n 3 March 2014 ZA=REE
FEAGLR 2(c) 65,739 (65,739) — — — — — —
Dividends declared in respect T BEERIR
of the current year B8 22(b) - - - = (3736) (3,736) - (3,736)
Unclaimed dvidends orfeted ARREHE o T . T m o . m
Balance at 31 December 2014 ~ R=Z-MF
and 1 January 2015 t=B=t+-H
k=%-1f
e ThoRE® WS4 o MO0 8O 15345 599910 (rgen) ST
Changes in equity for 2015: “E-DEEREE.
Loss for the year EEEA - - - - (16,074)  (16,074) (835 (16,909)
Other comprehensive income A2 EYE 9 - - - (2,164) (5,896) (8,060) 1,742 (6,318)
Total comprehensive income FELANGRE
L S oo ey @eno) @Aty o wm
Dividends approved in respect L-OHEEE
Ofttepevousyear ZB8 20 o T o T kB L T Bne
Balance at 31 December 2015  R=ZF-H%
T-A=1-REH 252,524 - 112,970 78,907 127,639 572,040 (27,054) 544,986
The notes on pages 68 to 125 form part of these financial statements. HIRE68E 1258 v S IEM T AR KK 2 — 26
3o

66



EELNEBRERAT —B-EEER

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT & RERER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HE-_T—RAF+t-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABHEETE)
2015 2014
—ZE-hfF —E—MF
Note $'000 $'000
iz T T
Operating activities BT
Cash generated from operations LRI IS A 17(b) 22,927 35,236
Income tax FriS %t
— Tax paid outside Hong Kong — BB S T — (62)
Net cash generated from REEBRZEERA
__Operating activites  ®& 22,927 sl
Investing activities REEK
Payment for the purchase of non-current assets #& A JERENEE (5,017) (11,292)
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets  H&IERENE E TSI 2,961 1,598
Increase in bank deposits SRITIESRIE N (23,828) (6,886)
Interest received B RS 930 1,518
Net cash used in investing activites ~~ REAXRBzREmLFR (24954) | (2l
Financing activities REEE
Repayment of loan from an intermediate EERNIER AR ZER
holding company — (12,726)
Interest paid BRFLE (4,373) (4,253)
Dividends paid BfRE (3,736) (7,216)
Net cash used i financing activites =~ REZFBHzRERMRER 0 8109) o |
Net decrease in cash REeRERBEELEE
and cash equivalents Z BB (10,136) (4,083)
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—BZzESE
at 1 January RERRESEBRET 17(a) 108,574 112,746
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes ER& g & (720) 89
Cash and cash equivalents Rt-A=t+—HzE£
at 31 December REFRESEREEF 17(a) 97,718 108,574
The notes on pages 68 to 125 form part of these financial statements. HIRE68E125 B v S EM T AR KK 2 —B
(i
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

68

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 significant accounting policies 1 FESHBK

(@) Statement of compliance (@) ®<rEH
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all R EHRER BB EE 2 BB EHRE
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”), which B ([BEPEMELER]]) MR- [FE
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial BRI | — B ER S ASE
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Mz A ERNERE S ERELER - &
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public BERTER ([HAGFTER]) kRE - 5%
Accountants (“"HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong NRe=FRBIRES CARVMED)Y Z1RE 3%
Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. EPBRENMETEBHEZFER AR
These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure FHEMARA ([ EWHRE]) 2@BEER
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock E o AEBRRAZEEZSFBRMENT -
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group and the Company is
set out below.
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first Eh et e BhaeTaargEBsT 2
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting period BEREUBREEL  WHRAEBRARGEZ
of the Group and the Company. Note 1(c) provides information on any AEEFT M E R E S AT IR RN - B
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these RFEAI S EANAER 2] ERIAT5 5
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group and the RE R E SR ER 2 AR5 BUR &
Company for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these ERRIEHRRARE - BEERS M
financial statements. 1(c) °

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (b) #HmEBBPEHRRZER
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December BHE-_Z—RF+-_A=1t—"BILFEZHF
2015 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as AU BBRERBEARTREMB AR (5
the “Group”). BIAEH]) -
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial B FSERR T AR LKA AR B o
statements is the historical cost basis.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSS requires BIRGA BB REER N EREE L
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect EEEBRLSYERRERLEE  BF -
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, WA BRI M3t S HU T - (AR R B
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are RIRTE o (et M EBRR B EBELR M
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed ZEREEEBAEL TBEENEMmEEM
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form B - EERRAYEEMIRRILT TNEARS
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and AMNEERAGEREEEDHRNER - &F
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results BRAERAIGEA BNz S hEt -
may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing HEtREEREREFER - YesthstE
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in TIERTRE - BISFT R &% - AlissTe
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in TIEET T HIR N TR B EET 2 2RE
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both B R R EAR - BITE(E T AR R BRI SR o
current and future periods.
Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that TLE A BB SRS YER R TR A9 H T
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of URIEEE T —FE 2 ERRBXREKXT
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2. BER AT RAR SR o
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EEENEERARAT —B-AFFR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
1 significant accounting policies (Continued 1. EEEBER (@
(c) Changes in accounting policies (c) EHBXNEH

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSS that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

— Amendments to HKAS 19, Employee benefits: Defined benefit
plans: Employee contributions

— Annual Improvements to HKFRSS 2010-2012 Cycle

— Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of
the amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 19, Employee benefits: Defined benefit
plans: Employee contributions

The amendments introduce a relief to reduce the complexity of
accounting for certain contributions from employees or third parties
under defined benefit plans. When the contributions are eligible for the
practical expedient provided by the amendments, a company is allowed
to recognise the contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the
period in which the related service is rendered, instead of including them
in calculating the defined benefit obligation. The amendments do not
have an impact on these financial statements as the defined benefit plans
operated by the Group are wholly funded by contributions from the Group
and do not involve contributions from employees or third parties.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle and 2011-
2013 Cycle

These two cycles of annual improvements contain amendments to nine
standards with consequential amendments to other standards. Among
them, HKAS 24, Related party disclosures has been amended to expand
the definition of a “related party” to include a management entity that
provides key management personnel services to the reporting entity, and
to require the disclosure of the amounts incurred for obtaining the key
management personnel services provided by the management entity.
These amendments do not have an impact on the Group’s related party
disclosures as the Group does not obtain key management personnel
services from management entities.

BAGTEMAGERMUTEE 2 BB
BIELED - ZEFTBRANAER 2 A e
§+Hﬁﬁaﬁ$5& °©

—  BABGERE9R (B [ERE
P ERBENE R BR MK

— F BB TS B F E 2 (2010 4F
FE2012FFH)

BB I R F E R (2011 6F
Z2013FHH])

AR B30 R AR R AT A & 5 AR AR
MEIERINRE - FINEETEBHBR
ERAZFERHANT

EBEERE195% (BRI EBEEF
EREANTE  BEAK]

ZEERSIAT —BH R - EEMCEHES
55 = 77 IR E BRAR AT BB R B T KR
EFTRRIE - EHFMRZFERIIRENF
R - NE A A ESRER SRR EER
B ER B 58 B AR A A ROFRL - M
HBESRNEERNEENTES - ARAE
BB EREMNF S mAREREENA
T REEHFE=ZTTHR  HZFEFTHR
SEMBRRALBELE -

EBMKRELENEEIE (2010FF
2012 F3AH) & (2011 E £ 2013 FAH)

Itk P A B 2 F R i B IR IR R Z 1B R]
MOBREMAER 2 REERT - Hep - HEE
SHERISE 2457 [BEEE D ER | E T IAME
FEOAR [RERG )T | ERIER R BREREH TR
EEABRETAREENEEER Y2
KBRS ERREREHNIZEEAR
RIEMAELN TR - HRANKEYL & A EIE
ERESTETEABRE  MZFETY
AEEHREB T RELBEFATE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued) 1  EEEBER @

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (d) MHBARIKRFERER
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls B AR AREBATIEG 2 BE - & KEE
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its AALHEE 2 EBNMAEXZFE
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 2B RiEAEESELR %E#&/ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’]az
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has 7 BIAREBIEHIZER - EFEAEE R
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are BEZESENRE  EZE (KREBEMAMT
considered. FrfsER)) BEERER -
An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated B A R 218 & RIS A 1 I 5 18 0F A 4R
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date /\HM&E%W BEE %\J%ZM:J%H: A&
that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and NSl RERBERE - N
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated &x%ﬁﬁ?iZEﬂﬂi“fﬁﬁv o TR R
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses SRR R - NERERE
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way $’%lﬁq Azl RS MEEZ RERE
as unrealised profits but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 18 ARSI BRI -
impairment.
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not IR R I E S EEREEN AR
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company and in respect of which RIFT B A R A E R EZ R HE
the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those FERTMH D  RSEERE FHZ
interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual R EA AR ABEENETE o
obligation in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a HRBBELELSH  EERENAAEE
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect ARG B AR A R EE FER TS
to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the IRERIEI IR AERS o
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement JEIERE R TR A M SR R WA SR i ==
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to IR BEA]RBNEBREES DR o IF
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the ERERNAEEFENE %lﬁz)ﬁiﬁaﬁﬁ
results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated income /\uﬁz SRS B A IR E BN
statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as NG S F et EE;H H&ﬁgﬁnﬁﬁ
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for AEHREZTIAR Ef AN EEEREN T
the year between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of 1Mk (m) GREEMHEEMTE) RERE BTSk
the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other ﬁﬁi&'uz%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ% °
contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance
with notes 1(l) or (M) depending on the nature of the liability.
Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss REEAH B AR 2 BB R S| B 1
of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments LN G IBREFZNIBZHAER - RE
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests BEREZSTA N 2 1A% 2 SR B R 25 1 HH T =R 1A
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but RELIERARE S B - (B ERIEES o
no gain or loss is recognised.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a ﬁu%$’iléi£|3ﬁ% TZT Hl#E - ZIER
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or S RGEBEZN B AR S ek - 188
loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former x%ﬁ@;b Bz o EHKEIW% Z HTH 8
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and AT TS ERIRE AR AL EER
this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial ZEACREEVRERZARE  HAR
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment Bt N B ek A HE Lz YA 1% & B AN
in an associate or joint venture. (wns@Em) -
In the Company'’s statement of financial position, an investment in a EARARRZHBARREAN - BB AR A
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(i)). AR EEE (RHMEE10)) 5IiE ©

I
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
1  significant accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEEE®
(e) Property, plant and equipment (e) W% HBRZME

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost MEZETIEZUKRARERERE (R

less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(i)), with 10)) ZIBRSN - AT EOMEE - HES R REBIEK

the exception of construction in progress which is stated at cost less any AR 25 e R EEEYERE (RHEE10) -

impairment losses (see note 1())):

— land classified as being held under finance leases and buildings SERMEME TN T EYE (R
thereon (see note 1(g)); fiEE1Q) ¢

— buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold land ENEAKEHE TN LM FE B
classified as held under operating leases (see note 1(g)), and wE (RWE19) &

— other items of plant and equipment. E A ias ek o

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of WMEES N EME - W REREIEE 2 &E

property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between T ERMEFUBFEUNEFEBREREEZ

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are R WHRREE S E AR E PR -
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant WE TG E - HR N REK AR E (T F

and equipment, less their estimated residual values, if any, using the SHEE (F) » FE TG AIE A FHIE

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows: MMABS AT E Mmies -

— Leasehold land classified as held under finance leases is — AEARAEREE TH TR RE WA
depreciated over the unexpired term of lease. EHMNE -

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the — FHEET EMWERREREE
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful R EfhET RIS (TR A -+
lives, being no more than 50 years. F) MERERHMINE -

— Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures 410 50 years HEBS -« 2Rl NEE=R+4F

BRREE

— Motor vehicles 4to7 years i P44

No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress until ERIRNEESKE A/ AFEHEIT~et

such time when the assets are substantially completed and ready for use. I2ITE o

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different IR . HLSE IR S R EA S R

useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis A{EFRER - WIEB LM A GRS IE

between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. HEAE - TEBmEEERIITE -

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed KNEFEGERSTEE Y nF BER N4

annually. BE (mE) -

(f)  Investment properties f) HwEWE

Investment properties are land and buildings which are owned or held
under a leasehold interest (see note 1(g)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1(i). Depreciation is calculated to write off the
cost of investment properties, less their estimated residual values, if any,
using the straight-line method over the shorter of the unexpired term of
lease and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years.

Both the useful lives of the investment properties and their residual
values, if any, are reviewed annually.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as described
in note 1(r)(iii).

REMERSRBESWAR, S REREE
M#EAIREEEEE (RME1R) HADN
THREE -

REMFRKAR R E SR EEERSIR
(RHFED)  FETDIREMERARER]
REE (WA) - EREREEHREMGA
ERFEH (THRBA+F) METERLHEIN
BAVERTE MM o

REWENERFHMENREER (WA)
IREELRE o

0 ) 2 BT & W AR BB EE 1)) 3 75
REH -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)
1  significant accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEHEE®
(8) Leased assets (g) HEEE

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or MAEBBELHEEEE TR ARBE

contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement conveys t—Fs— Ry ZEMERAE—FEEREK

a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time in ZIHEEEN  NZEZHE (B—RRXHK

return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is — RN 5MHK) ATHESBIERE - %5

made based on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is ERBZH AR EMED - MERE

regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease. BERG AERE 2 AERA -
(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group (i) HEFEAEBZEENDSE

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the HRASENUHERENEE  WEBAHEE

Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as BEREEMNBAIS Y RBRFLRER =K

being held under finance leases. £E - FHEERSIRAARENERS -

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards WAEHEBEEZMERKRMFIZ=EZE A

of ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases, with the EEE W ASERE - AT :

following exceptions:

— property held under operating leases that would otherwise meet — HERENETENCLHEY XS
the definition of an investment property is classified as investment WHBREREME - MERHEERR
property on a property-by-property basis and, if classified as EYE  ZHEEGUBREAMEE AR
investment property, is accounted for as if held under a finance )53
lease; and

— land held for own use under an operating lease, where the — BEKLLSHELABRAMBAERN T -
fair value cannot be measured separately from the fair value ARnEAETEHERIABRTEECR
of a building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is Bt FEREMNARBEDHT
accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the 2 SEREEREHEERE AR
building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For these MIEEEEMBEARIBELLHELF
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease was A AlERER o sttt = - FHERF
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the previous AR AREB B IRET LA - 5k
lessee. HERTFAFABE T -

(i)  Operating lease charges iy KREHE

— Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating — MAEBIRBELEHEFREE R
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or BN 2 BN BR R AERE
loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by EHRENFTRE 2t R © AT
the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit SR EMEEGITEAPTTERN TR
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments FHENREN - TEERPRE
made. R o

— The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is — AR TR E 155 1 o AU B A 2R 2 4%
amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease HAEHEBNES - RERIES
term. Impairment losses are recognised in accordance with the LB () S FHBUR R HER o
accounting policy set out in note 1(i).

(h) Intangible assets (hy #B|EEE

Intangible assets represent acquired trademarks and club debentures and PIE N @ P& RE 5 LA AR 5 R B B 18 1) B

are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1()). (RMFE0) °

These intangible assets are not amortised as their useful lives are REBWEEWESN RAEAFEAFH

assessed to be indefinite and are tested annually for impairment (see note WG AT ETE RSFEBEERENSR (R

). L) ©

The conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite B EEZAFERFHE T ECNERESTE

is reviewed annually to determine whether events and circumstances B AECTBRECEESTIHZEE 2T

continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. FEFERAFHZTEER -
[
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1  significant accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEEE®
(i)  Impairment of assets (i) EERE

(i) Impairment of receivables (i) W IERRE

Receivables that are stated at amortised cost or at cost are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment includes
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about one or
more of the following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments,

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; and

— significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and
recognised as follows:

— an impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets) for receivables carried at amortised
cost or discounted at the current market rate of return for similar
financial assets for receivables stated at cost, where the effect
of discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively
where these financial assets share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which
are assessed for impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to
the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment 10ss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of
an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
receivables included within trade and other receivables, the recovery of
which is considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment
losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade receivables directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or 10ss.

REER AT R 2 RYIRTAN S A E R ETT
2R AEERDAEBERBRELIR
B o BENTERESEATAEERIN
—HESZRBRFANATBRIE

— EBRAERNTBEEEE

— BRAH  PlinERIEEHEENS
RS FIE

— ERAETHESEOCUBEERE
FIREHIR &

—  IERM - W5 RERERREN
BEAMRBHEBABTAEE -

WA REBRERRELIRE  ERERS
BT R AR

—  REEBRZEERIERGARE
REenB8REZERAE  BLEH
SREEZRENERME (AEL
BEGERE T E O EERA )&
TR (WARTEBEAN) - IA
BBHAANI Rz EMEERRR
BORRIEE (T rBHIRM1E
M) FORBRIBILEERE - TIRE
RERTE o MMFHAREZ 2 BEEN
ARBR 2 REIRIBEZEEERBRIE
HHEUNEENBERRLR -

R ERE RS RN ERABRD - M
BRR AR 2B R R EE BRI
BEZEMHARE - ARERBERE
@O - MO NMSEREE ZREE
TR 8L i 1 4B 1 4 2 X B e oR X BB
BNREEEZEHE -

BEEBEEZEAREEEME - RN E
W S8 55 Ko ELA PR SR B R UK B 5 B SR P AR
BERE  EREEREFRNTBEE
AERGR o FULERT - RERABER1E
FRBERLE - EAKEERRKEY
o AR AEEREN SRS B RAERK
B R RRPMEHE - ARSI ARBREE
FABMSEERED - HRERE A2
ERERDHRNEE  MSERERT &
O - BHERA M EMEE) &R WE 2 /T2
BEEMENSRERSPESR -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)
1  significant accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEREE®
(i)  Impairment of assets (Continued) (iy EERE @
(i)  Impairment of other assets (i) HEERE
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of REREEE AR RINEER - LA
each reporting period to identify indications that the following assets may ATHNEEREGD HIBENZAIEHERZ
be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists WEESEE M ELEIRD
or may have decreased:
— Property, plant and equipment; — YZE - HEER R
— Investment properties; — WEME
— Interests in leasehold land held for own use under operating — ERESHETEAMBANHEE Ty
leases; W
— Intangible assets; and — mIVEE Rk
— Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of — RAR BB AR R R BB B A )4
financial position. o
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. MEFEEMEBRTR - BlgHstEEN
In addition, for intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the el 458 o N B BT A E BTN
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any BILEEMS @ AEBS@TFEGsTERUE
indication of impairment. R MEEESAEMAENR -
— Calculation of recoverable amount — FTEAKRE S5
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value BEZAKO¢ESEEEFERE
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, RAEEMETZESHE - RAHHER
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present BER @@ B%RBATAIE =Gt
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market MAKRBSRERERE - %8R
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to KE R R THIS S I TRl G 2 BB
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely HEENZEE BERR - WEE
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount W AR BEAT K BUE L E A E B T BRER
is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash Be&Re MBI HRIGRESREY
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). BNMERIEE (BVBREVR © 8 41) 3k
ETErE £ -
— Recognition of impairment losses — TR E R B
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying BEEE (NEMBNIRSELRS
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it i) MEEEEBAE W R < - A
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses SHEWBEFRERREEE - ptBEEE
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to SEBRAERNRERSE AR E
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or group I (SkazHElR) EEMNRMERL
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an PloE - MEEREETERL 2R
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs REREH AR BERBESEKASRSE
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use. FREE (BgEEE) -
— Reversals of impairment losses — B eUR E 18
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable fis FA ARE BT AJ U Bl & B8 2 (T HH 3R AT
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable B B EREEE -
amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying e 2 R EBEERNMEATFEL
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss AERREBEMEF] 2 EEZRE
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses B - O 2 BERETRERER 2
are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are FEFFAEBGEP -
recognised.
[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued 1  EEEBER @

(i) Inventories h ==
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. GEERAS A SIFEME 2 REEG

&

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises A AINBE R AL E - WEIEMAR
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in B « IR R 8717 & 2 BUR I i Zh B
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. ARSLPTEE 4 2 B AR o
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of AR FEAREERS 2T EER AT
business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs AR AR M AR E AN o
necessary to make the sale.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is REEFER  ZEFE2ERESRRE
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is U HAREIPER X - FEMURE ] 2IR%
recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable B BEERMEFE BB MRS E R
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the RA%5IVER S o (Rl m] B 3R R (E 18 hn M B B B Y
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any A7 B R E & R EE ] 25 A B R P R
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of TH e
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

(k)  Receivables (k) FEWRE
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at FERFIERE A BERER - HERNE
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for BRF AL E A AR B R IZERARES
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 1()), except where the receivables BAME (RMFE10) - HwWE B R RIE
are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed AETFHEEATBETECMAETEERENHR
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such BEF - sBEIREZENKE - B{ERI ©
cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of EZEERT » EWERIERR AR REED
doubtful debts. BERESIER -

()  Interest-bearing borrowings () MEER
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less W EBREVIZR AR BERELR S ERE
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest- R o REERE - M EEFIREHEKAIE
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference B ERE R AN Z RSB FKRERE U
between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being BERAEEEBRERER o
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest method.

(m) Payables (m) FENFE
Payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at FERZTESEVIRALBERER - HEE
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in SHRKANHIME - MEWRRIREZE T K » AliRA A
which case they are stated at cost. HIME ©

(n) cash and cash equivalents (n) HERZERBRLHER

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

RekFRREBERERTESF R &R
1T R EA I TSR 2 8 i SR A R d 1
BZIRE - MZBHRERER AT A E A
ReeRABEAEERR ITRABAR=
BARNRMZILERR -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)

1  significant accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEHEE®

(0) Employee benefits (o) 1EEREF

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined (i) EHEEREMN R EREER
contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined BRINFTEIZEHFREF S FRIEL - BEHFF
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are R~ EREFEWRGE 2 BRI AEEFTE
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by Y IEERTIEINAEB EEIZHEBDR
employees. B2 FEERR o

(ii)  Defined benefit retirement plan obligations (i) TEEEFERNREEIZEE
The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement AEFBGETHEEFNEARS2NFAERIE
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount 8 TR MB & B PR O RIS (5T H
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service BEER) R SRS B F AR EH
in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine WREWIREMASIEEN AT EE - 6
the present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The STERAERNBEMUTE B ERAE
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit 17 BfEHEREAERET KA - BHER
credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, BERRMEA ATE S 8 & R R A
the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits HRRIBAEANLENRIRE -
available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan.
Service cost and net interest expense or income on the net defined EREN B ENEEFENRBEKATNFE
benefit liability or asset are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by TH BB FREEERRER - WikHER
function as part of “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses” BEATHEERA] [HE D HEAY]
or "administrative expenses”. Current service cost is measured as the [TTHEY ] B—%5 - BEREKANZSIHE
increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting AEREMREFEANEREENEENE
from employee service in the current period. When the benefits of a plan BIZHNZETE - BT2IM AN HIREFH
are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of the changed EEFTMERE BEEBBATREREEEAN
benefit related to past service by employees, or the gain or loss on FE)I D kLRSS RIEES - @ TERT
curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit or loss at the earlier 2D ok MR B AR RS S SRR R SR AR AR AN ok
of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and when related FHRENE (WREEAE)  NEZRNER
restructuring costs or termination benefits are recognised. Net interest ABEH - BIRFI B HeE I A FEE 2B ER
expense or income for the period is determined by applying the discount LY ETREN AEMEANTE R E
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning AR EREEMNEaEEEFEMET  FTH
of the reporting period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The MITREERBEEHEASEMAEAE
discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on high quality HIR A NEE D EEHFNRE ARG
corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the RETF o
Group’s obligations.

(iliy  Termination benefits (i) ARILEFEERN
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can KRILEBENAS ANEBREE LEN IR
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when it recognises HNETHERAEAMABIELFRIEHE
restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits. B (AR E BAE) o

(p) Income tax (p) FRSH
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred REEZZERBERNAHBEREEREE
tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax ENBEZEE « NEAKRIBENELEREBEE
assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent RBEZEB$HEERZPER  EEFTER
that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or HEmemlasEERERTERNIER -
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised Bl 5> RIFE Efth 2 E U 2 kb 2 R R ©
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the NERFI A TR IE AR EE R R A - SR
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the HEHEBMETERAMEIE 2R E 2 A
reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous FENTIE YheFEE 2 ENHEBEELE
years. (OEEEE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
1  significant accounting policies (Continued) 1 FESHEE @)
(p) Income tax (Continued) (p)  FrE® ()

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities and all
deferred tax assets, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
are those temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination) and temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future or, in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related
tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)
1  significant accounting policies (Continued) 1 EEEsBEE®
(p) Income tax (Continued) (p) FrE® (@)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, R RBEEMGHARMEZEHER HHT
are presented separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax T~ WEATEE - REAFRLEMEHEE
assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets REERN B ANEBR B EAFEITHEEARE
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally TS EEREAEHMEHEaE  YAKE
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities AT S AEERIB R T » A A A B 52
and the following additional conditions are met: HFIRE TSI ALE
— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the — AEFSHEEMNEE « KXAFIHA
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset SEFEIRFREELE - A
and settle the liability simultaneously; or R EEMEEZEaE &
— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to — ELEFEHEEMEE  EHEEM
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either: BENERR—FSEBRATES
— B METIS T A A -
— the same taxable entity; or — [A— PRI < 3K
— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in — TEMERTIEE - ELE
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or BT EIETEHE KRBIRLEA
assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to "HAaEREBEIRTRM
realise the current tax assets and settle the current tax 150 & B AT LA Bl ) & 4R R
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously. REAR - IRFREEETRA
EIFTIS H& E B B4 HA BT
FWaE  KRRFEHRZE
EMBEZBE -
(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities () EBERIREE
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount IMRA DB AREB B B LR SRR
when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive obligation EESETER  AMEHeEREELE
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of MR ERING - A AEH AT S/ fEH 5T
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable B AARISAERFEemZEE s EER
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, EREEFRER MR EBRHEELR
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to BTt T E X BRI IREET 51 24 o
settle the obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be MRS ELBE NI ERINT B A B &
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is K skeE AN A EEEER T SEMNEET
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of FERZEBRERIABE - BERINK
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence K A] BE MEAR IR BIBR AN - SN RAEBAEIEA
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or BIEEFTRZFTAREEE LS AT
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the REFE - TeHELRNBEE  BERI
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. ST HY AT RE AR R BRI
()  Revenue recognition (n WARER
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or U AR BA B WCER Bt AT R BN B9 A o (BEET
receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow B o MESHLBENEMERAEERALRSE
to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured C T A AR AN (AiE R ) RESAVE I AT 52
reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows: FER BRRABZRUAT AN ERERA
R
(i) Sale of goods (i) HEWA
Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ HEWAEARWEEMS DR E R EEE
premises or picked up by customers for domestic sales and when goods BRSSPI IRE c EE OABEMS Y
are on board vessels for export sales which is taken to be the point in RERCEEN  BEEEIERLEER
time when the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks @& T AN « HEWATBIEIGER LS
and rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value added tax and min o WEINBRFTAE ST &R[E -
consumption tax and is after deduction of any trade discounts and returns.
[
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1  significant accounting policies (continued) 1 EEEEE®

()  Revenue recognition (Continued) (n WARR (&)

(i)  Interest income (i) FEWA
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest FEUWA TR E R TR AE -
method.

(ili)  Rental income from operating leases (i) RLEHFEMERZHESKA
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit RIEGELHEEMEI 2B A - JThAEEE
or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease term. RIBHFTRE 2 5T BIRRER - BREHEEH
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part EhFa e T E A PT N A R EE S H B 0 Ea Ay — 3
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. DIEEmPHER

(s) Translation of foreign currencies (s) IMEEHH]

(i) Functional and presentation currency (i) MEEEEREREE
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s AREFLEWEB AR 2 BREMBIEZIE
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic B DIRZWBARKSEMTE s EELER
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The B2EWE ([T 8 ]) 18 - REeBmEk
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, LAETE5 - METAKRAR IR W
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. j={-- 30

(ii) Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign (i) FRUINEHEIT 2R 5 - AR 5B 2N

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.

The results of operations outside Hong Kong are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

On disposal of an operation outside Hong Kong, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that operation is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items that
in substance form part of the net investment in an operation outside
Hong Kong, together with any related tax, are reclassified to equity on
consolidation.

[ERME o LAISNEEE 2 B EERALE -
AIABE R ZINEERIGE - EHIBm A
Az o

PASNEE IR e KA GHE R SEE B E R AE
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(BRABIETIN - BEBEFE)

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(t) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(u) Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:

(1 has control or joint control over the Group;
) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(1 The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in ().

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(8) The entity or any member of a group of which it is a part
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)

1 significant accounting policies (Continued 1  EEEBER @

(v) Segment reporting (v) DEEREHR
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported LEDBRAMBHREANE RS D HIEE
in the financial statements, are identified from the financial information SHEETHRERFAERSESITHREEREAS
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for RERDE M EANEENES IR EERN
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, D58 2 IR B MR IBA BT B B
the Group's various geographical locations. B 2R
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial R BEERME  BRIEDBEBELUNEE
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic BERTEERERBMEE - AETFME -
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products BFREASER - AESBE MR RS
and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of B EREERENEE AL - TR
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide HEARE YIS EITEE o [HRIFEEK
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating B SEL  INRGA it KEEDIEXE - 8
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they AEITAE °
share a majority of these criteria.

2  Accounting judgements and estimates 2 gitHErRAE
Note 20 contains information about the assumptions and their risk factors BRI 208EEEEKEIAGBEZHBSE
relating to the retirement benefit liabilities. Other key sources of estimation SN - LU= R TN R E A A T R A
uncertainty are as follows: &t :

(@) Impairment of non-current assets (@ FRBEEZRE
If the circumstances indicate that the carrying values of these assets HAEBRBERZSEEERfELKRE - BE
may not be recoverable, the assets may be considered “impaired” AR A [ORE]  WiliBE S5 4L|
and an impairment loss may be recognised in accordance with HKAS F365% [ HEME] HAREEE - RIER
36 Impairment of assets. Under HKAS 36, these assets are tested for BEETERIE 36, ZEEERNEHXER
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that B AR A8k 7 BREE ] gE & A Y O] B
their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When such ENZEEITRERIS - REIRB@RIENS - R
a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable EEAERZETRE S - AlkE$ 58 AT
amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value less costs HEBEFRAEBEMENRSE - REEF
of disposal and value in use. In determining the fair value less costs of HEER  EEEeXZHELENER
disposal, management refer to the observable market prices for similar THIHERE - NEBERE R AELR KT
assets. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated by AIREEENESERE - Al - BRMISE
the asset are discounted to their present value, which requires significant BOlRe B RIA B - WAl BT B EE
judgement relating to the volume of future sales, future selling prices and WEREEEHERAE - FRBHEEMNME
the expected amount of future operating costs. The Group uses all readily MEREEFFE D RIRMEE 1T R 12 #EE -
available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of the recoverable amount. However, actual sales volume,
selling prices, operating costs and market prices may be different from
assumptions which may result in a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the assets affected. Details of the nature and carrying amounts
of non-current assets are disclosed in notes 11 and 12 respectively.

(b) Depreciation or amortisation of non-current assets (b) FRBEEZIFENEHE

Property, plant and equipment, investment properties and leasehold
land (see note 11) are depreciated or amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated
residual values, if any. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives and
the estimated residual values, if any, of the assets regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation or amortisation expense to be
recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives and residual values
are based on the Group's historical experience with similar assets and
taking into account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation or
amortisation expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant
changes from previous estimates.

WE - MR kERE REMEREE S E
@ (RMEN) Rt R EHERSRER (1
B) & EEGEFAERBERRESET
E - AKEERHEENGET I ERFR R
Et RIREE (W0F) e - UEERR
EHAMALENITE LB HFREX - AER
FREFKEEDREAEBSRLEERN
BIERR L BB A TEZ S M IEH o
BB E AT A ERNE - RARHEITE
FXXATHE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)
2  Accounting judgements and estimates (Contnued) 2 = EEHEERFIEF (&)
(c) Impairment loss for doubtful debts (c) ZRERRBEFSE
The Group maintains an allowance for doubtful debts for estimated losses AEEREBABREEELATAMRME
resulting from the inability of debtors to make required payments. The BB ER IR R ERABEES - A%
Group bases the estimates of future cash flows on the ageing of the trade BEiR BB A 15PN E Z R G
receivable balance as disclosed in note 15, debtors’ credit-worthiness and 2R - B ANEEBEMRSRE AR
historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of debtors were to IR MEIELEET o WEBANTBHAR
deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than estimated. B BEEMEREAESAERTET
(d) Useful lives of intangible assets (d EBEREEZUEAFH
Intangible assets (see note 12) are not amortised as their useful lives ERAE (RME12) el 52
are assessed to be indefinite. The conclusion that the useful life of an ARBEEE 2 IERAEHRER/TEE
intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine whether HANUFRE  #8EEENERFHSRN
events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful life SRR T ELIBE RN s Y
assessment. The Group may need to amortise intangible assets in future HEAEREAFHRATRE o (NRIARKE
periods or recognise impairment losses for intangible assets if events and BIRE XA EAFEEART - NEET A2
circumstances indicate that the useful life is no longer indefinite. SYHELEEFEL B ERREERE -
(e) Deferred tax assets (e) EEMEBEEE
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses not yet used and BEERIEE E IS ARB A 2 IR EE R E R
temporary deductible differences. As those deferred tax assets can only MAERER - ARZETEEHIEEENE
be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits RIER AR K E R B R 5 0] BEEK SR E)
will be available against which the unused tax credits can be utilised, Ama B RARWIES - 1R EANERK
management’s judgement is required to assess the probability of being FERT B 2 ee - BIEEBE AT (HE
able to generate future taxable profits. Management’'s assessment is H T HAEERD ¢ M AR IR FE SR B FI) 48 B UL (T
constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are recognised RERIBEEE - NERRAFEINELEHIEER
if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred E o RERIEEEMNMEMEEAEFBRH
tax assets to be recovered. Details of the nature and carrying amounts of F21HIEE -
deferred tax assets are disclosed in note 21.
3  Revenue and segment reporting 3 WARSHBEEZE
(@) Revenue (@ WA
The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and distribution REBzFBEFARIERDIHBE  BE
of bottled, canned and draught beers. ARSI o
Revenue represents the invoiced value of products sold, net of discounts, WASEFTHEEMZBEZRENRTTM - B
returns, value added tax and consumption tax. | - EERRERE -
(b) Segment reporting (b) HWBERZHH
The Group manages its businesses by geography. In a manner consistent AEELMESIEEEK - SERNPEZHRE
with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group's NEAEEESETHEEABUNESEE
most senior executive management for the purposes of resource BEFERREER B AEBEE2HR 5
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the MEETE2HD I :
following two reportable segments:
— The Hong Kong operations mainly comprise the manufacture — BERAEBEEREETBEREIND
and distribution of own brewed beer products and distribution of A BEs s BiEE MY ED 28
imported beer products in Hong Kong and overseas. JHEM ©
— The Mainland China operations mainly comprise the manufacture — FEAMESEZRETHEARK
and distribution of own brewed beer products in the southern part ME (THE)) mBREINDEET
of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and overseas. RS 7 HER -
All of the Group’s revenue is generated from the manufacture and AEBZIWAZBRERIER D IHBE - 7
distribution of bottled, canned and draught beers. &R o
[
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3 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued 3 WARSESEIEER (&)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) SEER2IR (H)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (i) DEEE  BERERE

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive management
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets and current
assets. Segment liabilities include trade creditors and accruals attributable
to the manufacture and distribution activities of the individual segments,
bank loan and retirement benefit liabilities managed directly by the
segment and other current liabilities with the exception of deferred tax
liabilities.

The measure used for reportable segment profit or loss is profit or 10ss
before taxation. Taxation is not allocated to reportable segments. Inter-
segment sales are priced at cost plus a profit margin.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in note 1.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance for the years ended
31 December 2015 and 2014 is set out below:

AFFED RTINS EER - NEEZ
SETHREEASNRATEREREAT
RN AL ZFE  BERAE

DHEEBREMBEENEE  BREERR
HEE - DHABEREES D IMERD HE
PRIENENESRBENIRER - H#E
EREEMRITERIRREN BN EAM
mBEE - EEERBR GRS

AHEATE2HRBANBBRMRAZ ALK
Rl R E 18 - TS HIS B D EEAT
2WED - D EZFHHE R AR ISR
FBIFE®E -

DEHEM WM R EAEE 25K
R (R Al) — 2 -

BE_Z AR -_T-WFF-_A=+—
At - AARETARESESBTREEA
BUDEREREFHED BERR 2 ERESIW
™

Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B PEIRE ay
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Z2-1f% T ZZ2-1f —T-IE ZZ2-1f —Z-mE
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
i aw T pw T I
Revenue from external customers — SMREFIRA 392,125 564,019 171,317 164,621 569,502 728,640
Inter-segment revenue DEBREMA 303 259 - — 303 259
Reportable segment revenue ~ EFEHABUA 392,428 564,278 177,377 164,621 569,805 728899
Reportable segment (loss)/profit AT 2HAHLE
from operations (B58) /BH (25,463) 29,982 9,410 7245 (16,053) 37,221
Interest income from bank deposits  ${TEZFIERA 693 1,352 194 170 887 1,522
Interest expense on loans BRHERR (4,373) (4283) - = (4,373) 4,253)
Depreciation and amortisation FRFEREH
for the year (23,693) (23,404) (2,799 (2,175) (26,492) (25,579)
(Provision for)/reversal of FERRARNES R
impairment losses recognisedin A2 (RESE
profit or loss in respect of BiE) /RERERE
trade and other receivables (301) (409) 5 9 (296) (400)
Reportable segment assets BFERAVEE 1,179,474 1,220,424 81,479 68,343 1,260,953 1,289,267
Additions to non-current segment  FRIEREHDEELN
assets during the year 2,435 9,794 2,558 1,497 4,993 11,291
Reportable segment liabilities ~ BF2HIHEE 270,414 275,170 443,310 439,661 713,724 714,831
——
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3  Revenue and segment reporting (Continued 3 IARSSEEHER ®
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) SDLERZIR (&)
(ii)  Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, (i) ZAF2{/IBKA - 8% - BERARB>
assets and liabilities HiR
2015 2014
—E-REF — PO
$'000 $ 000
FT Tt
Revenue ION
Reportable segment revenue BT 2mRDIBYA 569,805 728,899
Elimination of inter-segment revenue “*IEZF‘EJH&)\T%Z% (303) (259)
Consolidated revenue ZEUA 569,502 728,640
(Loss)/Profit (E8]) BA
Reportable segment (loss)/profit from operations BT E2EHmOIKLE (BiE) /&BF (16,053) 37,227
Elimination of inter-segment (losses)/profits ’“IZZF'EJ EEE%E /B — —
Reportable segment (loss)/profit derived REINAZEZAT
from Group’s external customers SE (E1E) /7*_77?‘
and consolidated (loss)/profit before taxation SEBEE (BiE) /&F (16,053) 37,227
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AT ERDHEE 1,260,953 1,289,267
Elimination of inter-segment receivables 50 2 [ FE UK BR TR AR B (381,187) (380,924)
Consolidated total assets RAREE 879,766 908,343
Liabilities af&
Reportable segment liabilities ATEHRHPALE 713,724 714,831
Elimination of inter-segment payables 802 e BRIE i8S (381,187) (380,924)
332,537 333,907
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEAE 2,243 2,487
Consolidated total liabilities rEEAaE 334,780 336,394
[ ]
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3 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued 3 WARSESEIEER (&)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) SDILER2ZIR (&)
(ili)  Geographic information (iii) HEER
The following table sets out information about the geographic location of TEHEB () AEBEIINERZE KA (i) 4
(i) the Group's revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s non- EEERBEE ([ETIFERBEE]) 2t
current assets (“specified non-current assets”). The geographic location BUBER BEZWEMNERBESELE
of customers is based on the country of establishment of each customer. PR EFTERKME c t5ETEIERBEE
The geographic location of the specified non current assets is based ZHIBNERBREEEZERNE (HBY
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of property, plant and ¥ OMENEE REYENEE HHER)
equipment, investment properties and leasehold land, and the location of REZBREBEE EEHE (HMBEFEE
the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets. =) ME e
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
HIRBEFBA EBERBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-AfF —E—E —E-HF —ET—OF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tr T T+
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (B HEL) 297,009 448,483 575,006 596,271
Mainland China R B (A D, 86,797 101,531 27,538 30,225
Philippines JEEE 178,574 163,236 —_ —
Others HBER 7,122 15,390 — —
272,493 280,157 27,538 30,225
569,502 728,640 602,544 626,496
(c)  Major customers (c) FEEF
In 2015, the revenue from the Group's largest customer which was RZE—RF REAEEFERFTHA
served both by the Hong Kong segment and the Mainland China 2 & KB P AU A A 180,556,000
segment amounted to $180,556,000 or 32% of the Group's total revenue TR AR EBBR AR (=T — Y F:
(2014: $164,791,000 or 23%). The revenue from the Group's five largest 164,791,000 T3 23%) ° KRB AE B & AKX
customers amounted to 60% (2014: 45%) of the Group’s total revenue. EFPHBRAGAREBNBKRAT 0% (ZF
—PU4F : 45%) °
Details of concentration of credit risk arising from these customers are set REZEEFPZAMEERRE NN
out in note 23(a). 23(a) °
4  oOther netincome 4 HWaSBEH
2015 2014
—E-REF —T—F
$'000 $'000
T T
Interest income from bank deposits SRATERZFILEHA 887 1,522
Rental income from investment properties TEYEHES WA 10,759 8,409
Advertising and promotion subsidy (note 25(a)) B s EmeL (MsE25@)) 24,895 26,564
Net gain on disposal of non-current assets HEIEREE E 2 FET 2,351 1,415
Net foreign exchange gains bE HF A 499 106
Compensation income received B P 2 BE A
from a former customer — 14,301
Others Hib 446 3,041
39,837 55,358
I
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(BRABIETIN - BEBEFE)

5 (Loss)/profit before taxation 5 A (5518 2%
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BEA (BE) BRESHEK (5
(crediting): A) NFHIIER :

2015 2014
—E—-AfF —E—MmEF
$'000 $'000
Tt T
(a) Finance costs (a) Bk E H
Interest expense on loan from R ERR AR
an intermediate holding company EFA BT 4,373 4,253
Bank charges RITEMA 125 155
4,498 4,408
(b)  Staff costs (b) B THE
Retirement costs RIS
— Defined contribution retirement plans — ERRMHFURAGTE 5,444 6,639
— Defined benefit retirement plan — EFEN RIS
(note 20(a)(v)) (F7E20(@)(V)) 5,613 5,452
11,057 12,091
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENMEMEF 118,421 116,888
129,478 128,979
(c) Other items (c) Hiig B
Amortisation HiE
— Land lease premium (note 11(a)) — METHFIE (FiEE11() 2,588 2,599
Depreciation (note 11()) e (FizE11()
— Property, plant and equipment — W - HESNEE 20,548 20,258
— Investment properties — AW 3,356 2,722
Cost of inventories (note 14) FEKA (FiFE14) 329,579 414,586
Operating lease charges: KEHEEM -
minimum lease payments SEBEEMNK
— Land and buildings — T REE 1,544 1,616
— Other assets — HEMEE 196 208
Rental receivable ‘EYZEZ B WA
from investment properties Ik E 5 5,559,000 7T
less direct outgoings of $5,559,000 (ZZ—/O4 : 4,210,000 7T)
(2014: $4,210,000) (5,200) (4,199
Auditors’ remuneration ZEENEN &
— Provision for the year — RNFEERE 3,436 3,364
— Under/(over)-provision in respect — LEERETR (BF)
of the prior year 308 (65)
Impairment losses for trade and FEUNE 5 Kk E M BRFK
other receivables (note 15(b)) ZRMEEE (M93E15(0) 296 400
[
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6 Income tax 6 Fi"m
(@) Taxation in the consolidated income statement (@) HZEWRERZABBIE:
represents:
2015 2014
—E-FE —ZF—F
$'000 $'000
Ft T
Current tax — Outside Hong Kong AEATIE — BB
Provision for the year AN R - 62)
Deferred tax (note 21) EERE (MiEE21)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences TRE = FE 2 IR R (O (856) (171)
Income tax Fris A (856) (233)
The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company and other Hong Kong ARG MEMEENBRANEERER
subsidiaries was 16.5% (2014: 16.5%). No provision for Hong Kong Profits 16.5% (ZZ—HF : 16.5%) o AQF) R EA
Tax has been made for the Company and other Hong Kong subsidiaries BV B R T R AFR R I EEBE AR
either because the accumulated tax losses brought forward exceed the FEMTERRAT LG IEEE - W&
estimated assessable profits for the year or the entities sustained losses HBEBFETIELRE -
for taxation purposes.
The statutory tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries established in the PRC R B BB AR EE R R A 25% (=
was 25% (2014: 25%). No provision for current taxation has been made T—MO5F : 25%) c RAARBIR I E ARl HR
for the subsidiaries established in the PRC because the entities sustained REEETBEE - M ERAFERIBIEL
losses for taxation purposes. s -
Provision for current tax outside Hong Kong for 2014 represented a ZE-MFERB AN IR R S —
withholding tax levied at 10% on interest income earned in the PRC by a FFEICEERAOWE AT - BIEFEEEH
subsidiary which is a non-PRC resident according to the relevant rules and HREIAE R BER P BRSO T S ATE
regulations of the PRC. IEH) 10% TRIRFTISHL ©
(b) Reconciliation between income tax charge and (b) FIEHXHER (F5E) Bz
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates: FE
2015 2014
—E-RE —ZF—F
$'000 $'000
Ft T+
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREAT (F518) &R (16,053) 37,227
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation WA IET AR 2 EAR R
calculated at the rates applicable to BERFAT (B518) EFETE
the tax jurisdictions concerned ZAETHIE (1,867) 6,809
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DAHIBRFAS 2 IR & 1,722 2,529
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue IERBIA Z TRIBR (114) (207)
Tax effect of contributions to retirement benefit plans  :RIRGERIETFEE R 2 Fila g & (471) (146)
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary differences  FRAERIELEFIE 2 FiTEE5 18
not recognised for deferred tax purposes RERtEER 2 RHIBE 19,564 —
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses and & B S BT AR FER M B S I 18
temporary differences previously unrecognised LEREERZHIEGE (17,978) (8,752)
Actual tax charge FriSfisz i 856 233
——
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7 Directors’ remuneration 7 EE#e
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong BIEEB A BEHIE 3831 & & (A7) (#HEE
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of FEEFZER) B F2EREMBEL
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows: FEMeT -
2015
—E-1%
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
ik e R iR BRESHN &%
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T
Executive director BTES
Ramon G. Torralba I — 2,914 — — 2,914
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ramon S. Ang =325°¢ — — — — —
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SER — — — — —
Chan Wen Meg, May (Michelle) (LS - - - - -
Teruyuki Daino RER=E — — — — —
Roberto N. Huang =2ER — — — — —
Takeshi Wada MER — — - - —
Takashi Hayashi MEE - — — — -
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
David K.P Li FEE — — — — —
W.S. Ng R - — — — -
Carmelo L. Santiago ikiids — — — — —
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno — — — — —
Cheng Chuk Man William HAIR
(appointed on 18 April 2015) (R=F—h%F
mA+N\BEZT) — — — — —
Adrian M. K. Li FREB
(resigned on 17 April 2015) (R=Z—1%F
MA++HEE) — — — — —
— 2,914 — — 2,914
The executive director waived his entitlement to his director’s fees. All WITESBCHNEERS - TAFNTESR
of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors BMIHITESEMELMANE

waived their entitlements to all their emoluments.
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7 Directors’ remuneration (Continued) 7 EFEMe®
2014
T
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary scheme
fees inkind bonuses contributions Total
fizkn 2 = bl pian RIRS MR B
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T Tt
Executive director HTES
Ramon G. Torralba HERF = 2,832 = = 2,832
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ramon S. Ang 242578 = = = = =
Carlos Antonio M. Berba SER = = = — —
Chan Wen Meg, May (Michelle) BREX = = — — —
Teruyuki Daino RER= = — — — —
Roberto N. Huang #R = — — — —
Takeshi Wada MAR — = = = =
Takashi Hayashi WEE (R-E—mE
(appointed on 25 April 2014) MA=t+HBEZRM) = = — — —
Shobu Nishitani AAHR (RZZF—mF
(resigned on 25 April 2014) MA-+HAFT) — — — — -
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
David KP Li ZEE = = = = —
WS. Ng RUEZ = = = — —
Carmelo L. Santiago i =) = = = = =
Reynato S. Puno Reynato S. Puno — — — — —
Adrian M. K. Li ZRE = = = = —
— 2,832 — — 2,832

The executive director waived his entitlement to his director’s fees. All
of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors
waived their entitlements to all their emoluments.

HITEECHERBS - MBFNTEER

BIYERTERCHEEMEIE
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8 Individuals with highest emoluments 8 MegEZAR
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2014: one) is a e hBAEHR  —F (ZT—NEF : —
director whose emoluments are included in note 7. The aggregate of the 2) BEE (EME O RME7HE) - &
emoluments in respect of the remaining four (2014: four) individuals are as g (Z2—NF - %) lesm 2 ABZ
follows: B @zEmT

2015 2014

—E-hfF —E—MmEF

$'000 $'000

Fr TIT

Salaries and other emoluments & ROERL 6,734 6,972

Retirement scheme contributions RIRSHIK 875 850

7,609 7,822
The emoluments of the four (2014: four) individuals with the highest Mg (ZZE—NF : I%) emaZABZ

emoluments are within the following bands: Mot -

2015 2014

—E-AfF —E—NFE

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AEHE AEHE

$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000 7T 2 2

$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 2,000,001 7t 2 2,500,000 7T 2 2

[ ]
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9  oOther comprehensive income 9 Hti2Emka
Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income Hit 2 s o iHEr 2
2015 2014
—E-1% —Z-mF
Before-tax Tax Net-of-tax  Before-tax Tax  Net-of-tax
amount effect  amount amount effect amount
BREASE BENE RUASE RUNSE WEYE BUKSE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i i it i i
(note 21(a)) (note 21(a))
(KisE21(a)) (Fi5£210)
Exchange differences on RS :
translation of:
— financial statements of — REFINHBAR
subsidiaries outside IBMRAEE
Hong Kong ZERER 22,077 — 22,077 1,282 = 1,282
— monetary items that form — REEKEERHE AR
part of the net investment in ZHEMEREBESE
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong ZERER (22,499) — (22,499) (1,230) = (1,230)
(422) - (422) 52 - 52
Actuarial gains and losses of ERRANR R E
defined benefit retirement plan ZIEE R R EE
(note 20(a)(v)) (== 20(@)(V)) (6,996) 1,100 (5,896) (2,139) 622 (1,517)
Other comprehensive income Hi2Elas (7,418) 1,100 (6,318) (2,087) 622 (1,465)
10 (Loss)/earnings per share 10 J{E (BR) 27
(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (@) BREX (FHE) BF
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the loss BRER (B18) /BRI IREARA AR
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $16,074,000 (2014: BAFE( (B1B) £16,074,000T (ZZ—M
profit of $35,323,000) and on 373,570,560 (2014: 373,570,560) ordinary F : REERFEE AJEIGZE T 35,323,000 7T)
shares, being the number of ordinary shares in issue throughout the year. N AFERNE %17 2 373,570,560 A% & 38 %
(ZZ—PU4F : 373,570,560 L3@A) 515 -
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (by #HEZESR (BB EF
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is not presented as the Company did not BE g (B18) /BREARFIE - FAX
have dilutive potential ordinary shares for both years presented. NENE B BEE BT T BRITE o
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11 Property, plant and equipment, investment 11 PE - BREERE BREIYERAE
properties and leasehold land S1ith
(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) BREEHER
Property, plant and equipment Interests in
R HERRE leasehold land
Landand  Machinery, held for own
buildings  equipment, use under
held for  furniture Motor  Construction Investment  operating
ownuse andfixtures  vehicles inprogress  Sub-total  properties leases Total
ELERET
BALE M RE- BRmEEN
REE GRRER B EIR & BEnE AETwER &t
$'000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i S R a T i T i
Cost; B
At 1 January 2014 W=Z-mE-A—-H 1,026,080 1,709,078 10,809 339 2,746,306 121,769 124,173 2,992,248
Exchange adjustments 3T (1,525) (2,559 (45) (1 (4,130) — (176) (4,306)
Additions AE 3217 6,855 — 1,103 11,175 116 — 1,291
Transfer from construction in progress BB EER TR 325 940 — (1,265) — — = =
Disposals irf= — (3,974) (4,362) — (8,336) — — (8,336)
At 31 December 2014 W=Z-WE+-A=1-H 1,028,097 1,710,340 6,402 176 2,745,015 121,885 123997 2,990,897
Accumulated amortisation, 25 EREESE
depreciation and
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2014 R=E-RFE-f—H 633431 1,640,474 10,746 339 2,284,990 36,413 34,952 2,356,355
Exchange adjustments B (1,525) (2559) (45) (1) (4,130 = (63) 4,193)
Charge for the year (note 5(c)) FRRZ (FE5(0) 12,705 7,503 50 = 20,258 2,722 2,599 25,579
Transfer from construction in progress ~ EREERIR = 162 = (162) = = = =
Written back on disposals HERE - (3,791) 4,362) — (8,153) - — (8,153)
At 31 December 2014 RZB-MF+=A=1-AH 644611 1,641,789 6,339 76 229295 39,135 37488 2,369,588
Net book value: BRERE
At 31 December 2014 W=Z-WE+-A=1+-H 383,486 68,551 13 - 452,050 82,750 86,509 621,309
Cost; R
At 1 January 2015 R-E-h%-F-H 1,028,097 1,710,340 6,402 176 2,745,015 121,885 123,997 2,990,897
Exchange adjustments B 5 A (26,608) (44,525) (212) 3 (71,348) - (3,072) (74,420)
Additions e 87 3,136 82 1,688 4,993 - - 4,993
Transfer from construction in progress BB EER TR 25 1,638 198 (1.861) - - - -
Transfer from land and buildings held EREARLTIREE
for own use (28,078) - - - (28,078) 28,078 — -
Disposals e - (5,166) - - (5,166) - - (5,166)
At 31 December 2015 R-E-RE+-A=t-H 973,523 1,665,423 6,470 — 2,645,416 149,963 120,925 2,916,304
Accumulated amortisation, 2584 FERAESE
depreciation and
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2015 W=E-h%—-HF—H 644,611 1,641,789 6,389 176 2,292,965 39,135 37,488 2,369,588
Exchange adjustments S (26,608)  (44,525) (212) @3 (71,348) - (1,253) (72,601)
Charge for the year (note 5(c)) FRFAZ (HFE5(0) 12,061 8,262 225 - 20,548 3,356 2,588 26,492
Transfer from construction in progress BB EER TR - 173 - (173) - - - -
Transfer from land and buildings held ERAEELREE
for own use (9,015) - - - (9,015) 9,015 - -
Written back on disposals HERE - (4,556) - - (4,556) - - (4,556)
At 31 December 2015 W=Z-RF+-A=1-H 621,049 1,601,143 6,402 — 2,228,594 51,506 38,823 2,318,923
Net book value: BREHE -
At 31 December 2015 WZE-AFE+-A=1+—H 352,474 64,280 68 - 416,822 98,457 82,102 597,381
[ ]
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(BRABIETIN - BERAEEFHEHE)

11

(b)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment, investment 11 P BREEE BREYERA
properties and leasehold land (Continued) 1 (&)
The analysis of net book value of properties is as (b) YIEEREFEZZHWOT :
follows:
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZT—MmF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Medium term leases REIFRE
— in Hong Kong — &% 505,878 522,927
— outside Hong Kong — BAELAIN 27,155 29,818
533,033 552,745
Representing: DWAWTE :
Land and buildings held BRLtHEEE
for own use 352,474 383,486
Investment properties A 98,457 82,750
Interests in leasehold land held EREEETBAMSE
for own use under M E i
operating leases 82,102 86,509
533,033 552,745
Assets leased out under operating leases (c) KR&EHEETZEEEE

The Group leases out investment properties which are located at Nos.
9-11 Shing Wan Road, Tai Wali, Shatin, Hong Kong under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of two to three years, with
an option to renew each lease upon expiry at which time all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

The Group's total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are receivable as follows:

AEBERBLZMEERLNERDBREK
B 1R IEYE LA - HOFH—R
R-E=F EERIHBREREY
[E R EHT R R TR 1R - BN A8
FERAED -

AEBIRE T A HEH R S THE M R Z KRR
MEFRMT

2015 2014
—E-hfF —E—OF
$'000 $'000
F7t T
Investment properties REWME
Within 1 year —F R 16,738 5,911
After 1 year but within 5 years —FREAFA 15,950 3,537
32,688 9,448
[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment, investment 11 PE - BREERE BREIYERAE
properties and leasehold land (Continued) 81 (&)

(d)  The fair value of the investment properties at 31 December 2015 is  (d) ®REWENR -"ZT—HEF+-A=+—8H
$396,460,000 (2014: $285,910,000), which is based on a valuation using 2 A Ft B B396,460,0007T ( = F — PO 4F :
the investment approach which considers the capitalisation of net rental 285,910,0007T) © AR E R HETTHE - BIE
income receivable from existing tenancies and the reversionary value e ABRSERBEWLT MZEDERS
of the property after tenancies expire by reference to market sales BERPE (2EAWBE LFRIEANRS) 2K
transactions. The valuation was carried out by an independent firm of A o (BT ARBAEEMTHEE TR E8E
surveyors, LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, who have among their RBATEET  EREIEESMEMEen
staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with valuation H¥eE AHEERENMERERAS
experience in the location and category of the property being valued. HELR -

The fair value measurements are categorised as Level 3 valuations under NALEAERES BV BREELNF 135

the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value [AREBEFE] AER =R AR EEEE

measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified BOBRE=HRMHEE BoAREBEFENE

is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the ZEMIE2ENM NMEEFEMTAEIEZ A

inputs used in the valuation technique as follows: BREREEHRET

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. — F—AHE - BEAE —RBASE
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or (BIREFEHREEESABERER
liabilities at the measurement date TG REECFHBERE) stEZRAE

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs — F_MEE: FRE R ARE
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using (BNREeiERIE— M 7 E R A%
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for ) B RFEREKRT A ERE A
which market data are not available BErEZARE - T ERE AR

BTG EUR 2 A BUR

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant — FZNEE  FRAEATEBRSE
unobservable inputs AEZAR

The significant unobservable input in the fair value measurement is the STEAREMRAZEXTABREE AT

discount rate, which ranged from 2.9% to 3.9% (2014: 2.9% t0 3.4%). WK BERE29%ZE39% (—Z—NF : A

2.9% % 3.4%) °
[
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12 Intangible assets 12 E|EEE
Club
Trademarks debentures Total
5L BT EREH &5t
$'000 $'000 $'000
FT FIT Tt
Cost: RN :
At 1 January 2014 R-_ZE—WF—H—H 39,116 5,475 44,591
Exchange adjustments (R = @) )
At 31 December 2014 R-ZT—E+—_A=+—H 39,116 5,473 44,589
Accumulated impairment ZEEHREEE !
losses:
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—NFE—H—H 39,116 287 39,403
Exchange adjustments b 5, SRR = (1 (1)
At 31 December 2014 RZZF—FE+=—A=+—H 39,116 286 39,402
Net book value: BREFE ¢
At 31 December 2014 R-EBE—NF+=—A=+—H — 5,187 5,187
Cost: R :
At 1 January 2015 R-_ZE—RF—HA—H 39,116 5,473 44,589
Exchange adjustments b 3 S — (41) (41)
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE—RE+_A=+—H 39,116 5,432 44,548
Accumulated impairment REHREEE !
losses:
At 1 January 2015 RN_ZE—hRF—HF—H 39,116 286 39,402
Exchange adjustments FE 5, R — (17) (17)
At 31 December 2015 R-ZZE—RE+=—_A=1+—H 39,116 269 39,385
Net book value: BRENFE !
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—RF+=-RA=+—H — 5,163 5,163
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(BRABHETIN

IR E)

13 Investments in subsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of all the subsidiaries of the

company:

13 MELFES
TREFIAARMAHBARER -

Proportion of

Place of Issued share ownership
incorporation/ capital/registered interest held by Principal
Name of company operation capital Company Subsidiary activity
23y TBITRE FERERS T
ACIEE AR i B & A NG MEAR FEXEK
Best Investments British Virgin 50,000 100% — Investment
International Inc. Islands ordinary shares holding
of US$1 each
RBRELES 50,000 A% EER
SkEE
1RTT 2 ERR
60,000,000 100% —
preference shares
of US$1 each
60,000,000 A%
BREE
1€ 2Bk
Hongkong Brewery Hong Kong 100 100% — Dormant
Limited (“HKBL") ordinary shares
(note (i)) (PREE (i)
BB 100 f% Bmex
R
Ravelin Limited Hong Kong 10,000,000 100% — Property
ordinary shares holding
B 10,000,000 f% ESTEZ/ES
iR
San Miguel (Guangdong) Hong Kong 18,000 92.989% — Investment
Limited class “A” shares holding
ENE (BER) BRAR] B 18,000 fi% BEER
(A) Bz
1,000 100% —
class “B” shares
1,000 fx
(B) Az
Guangzhou San Miguel PRC Registered capital: — 70% Distribution
Brewery Company US$36,507,000 of beer
Limited (“"GSMB™)
(note (i)
BN A T E B R AR A A SHE
(TEEMN A7 1) (BRZE (i1)) 36,507,000 ¢
San Miguel Shunde Holdings Hong Kong 200,000 92% — Investment
Limited ordinary shares holding
B 200,000 A% WEER
Rl
San Miguel (Guangdong) PRC Registered capital: — 100% Manufacture
Brewery Company Limited US$39,933,000 and sale of
(“SMGB") (note (iii)) beer
£1 (ER) BBERAR A E FMEAR FE Y 17 4 65 IR
(A= h BEER 1) (B & i) 39,933,000 %7
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13 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued) 13 MELFES (@)
Notes: FHEE -
(i) HKBL has not traded since incorporation but it established a joint venture, (i) HKBL B i AL LAZE + —ER BEITER

Global Brews Hong Kong Limited, in Hong Kong on 18 March 2011. HKBL
holds a 50% equity interest in this entity. As at the date of the approval of
these financial statements, the joint venture has not commenced operations.

(i) GSMB is an equity joint venture formed between the Company's subsidiary, (i)
San Miguel (Guangdong) Limited, and Guangzhou Brewery. According to the
joint venture agreement, GSMB has an operating period of 30 years expiring

on 29 November 2020.

(i) SMGB is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise with an operating period of 50 (iii)

years expiring on 4 August 2042.

The following table lists out the information relating to SMGB, the only
subsidiary of the Group which has material non-controlling interests
(“NCI"). The summarised financial information presented below represents

25 BRZZ——F=AT/\BREE
X3 7 — &4 A& Global Brews Hong Kong
Limited B & & Q8] c HKBLIFBEZ B2 A
DZATIRE - HEARMBREIEZ
H - Z&E N AR ARG EEY -

FMNENTTERATDART 2 HBA
AN (EF) ARA S RN R
MyzaEEERR - REAEAER
B BARZEEMA=TE R
TE+—A+ARER -

Eh(BR) BEERARREINERESE
¥ BAREEHATF R_TWN_F
NAMBER ©

TRENEBENBR ZER  £NHERE
AEBEW - HEABAFEREENMNER
A o MHIREMNMBEE R TR A R]H

the amounts before any inter-company elimination. BRI < 58 o
2015 2014
—E-AfF —E—MmF
$'000 $'000
i T
NCI percentage FEIZER R B Db 8% 8%
Current assets MEEE 45,810 29,024
Non-current assets EMEBEE 29,463 32,155
Current liabilities mEaE (43,818) (61,137)
Non-current liabilities EREBEaE (393,167) (369,690)
Net liabilities BEFE (361,712) (369,648)
Carrying amount of NCI IR R R (B (28,937) (29,572)
Revenue WA 117,183 98,182
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B8 /&7 (14,230) 1,349
Total comprehensive income FEEEWEBE (14,230) 1,349
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI DREEIEEEERS (B58) /&F| (1,138) 108
Cash generated from/(used in) operating activities — &LEE 2B ERA (RE) 12,255 (8,055)
Cash used in investing activities KEEBKZBLRD (1,891) (1,268)
Cash used in financing activities REEE 2 RS M (34) (54)

[
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14 Inventories 14 &
2015 2014
= i —TnmF
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Products in hand and in process RBEmRERMD 35,223 32,589
Materials and supplies Wt R A e 17,208 18,836
52,431 51,425
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as ERRAARAIZFESEITOT ¢
follows:
2015 2014
—E-RF —ET—OF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Carrying amount of inventories sold (note 5(c)) HEFEREE (MIEE5(C) 329,579 414,586
15 Trade and other receivables 15 BRESRAMRE
2015 2014
—E-HF —E=—OF
$'000 $'000
T T
Trade receivables JEUR B 5 BRIE 54,443 73,100
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (note 15(b)) B REREREE (MEE15(0) (3,474) (3,848)
50,969 69,252
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments HAa U ER « & RIERFRIE 17,803 13,387
68,772 82,639
The amount of the deposits and prepayments expected to be recovered AEBEFZR—FE AN ESER A D
or recognised as expenses after more than one year is $2,119,000 (2014: MiZe RTENRIESED B 2,119,000 7T
$1,143,000). All of the other trade receivables, other debtors, deposits and (ZZ—M4F : 1,143,0007T) » FrA E b ER
prepayments are expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses B ZRERAMEWE - e RIENHRIER
within one year. FHE—F AR EIREEE A -
The Group held collateral over trade receivables at the end of the reporting AEEEAEARERESREFEUTE
period with attributable values as set out below: i
2015 2014
—E-AF —TE
$'000 $'000
T T
Buildings LIES 1,803 5,965
Cash deposits BEFR 2,510 2,483
Bank guarantees RITHEIR 750 500
Cash deposits disclosed above are included in the other creditors and LA EPIRBBR S F R INARE BB Z R
accrued charges and are expected to be settled after more than one vear, —FRrINNEMEMERERERER  ®
as disclosed in note 18. BT 18 #EEE -
[
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15 Trade and other receivables (Continued) 15 BEERRSIBEEMER (9
The Group considers that the credit risk arising from the trade receivables AEER A AR E SRS 7TRKE SRS
is mitigated by the collateral in the amounts indicated above. The value NEEERK - EEVEEERRDER-Z
of the buildings collateral represents the estimated market value of the —hF+_A=1+—HHOTHE-
buildings as at 31 December 2015.
(@) Ageing analysis (@ ERiEkDAT
The ageing of trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtful debts) at the FEUE 5 RRIE (IR RIZEREHR) WEE R
end of the reporting period is as follows: BREQIOT :
2015 2014
—E-0fF —T-F
$'000 $'000
¥ 7T
Current AEIEA 38,996 53,930
Less than 1 month past due BEAR DR —EA 7,280 8,667
1to 3 months past due BB A=A 3,006 3,161
More than 3 months but less BERA=EA
than 12 months past due =+ @A 610 1,689
More than 12 months past due BEARZN =@ A 1,077 1,805
50,969 69,252
According to the Group's credit policy set out in note 23(a), the general ARIRBSIFP E 23(a) AR B EEER - —
credit period is payment by the end of the month following the month BEERHE ANENAMOTAERIIE -
in which sales take place. Therefore, all the current balances above are It A RIS EEZ A HEM
within two months from the invoice date. &8 A REIE -
(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b) EWEZREBZRERSE

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using
an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the
amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against
trade receivables directly (see note 1(i)()).

BREWE ZRENREBREBBERT
8% BRIEASBEMEKGEEE R DA
ERBERT  BEEESERERKESK
TP HE (FEEE3)3)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as FARBERENEHOT
follows:

2015 2014
—E-HF —E-E
$'000 $'000
Ft Tt
At 1 January R—HA—H 3,848 11,227
Exchange adjustments R (197) (35)
Impairment loss recognised A EBIER 444 669
Impairment loss written back R EE IR R [ (148) (269)
Uncollectible amounts written off ek NN (473) (7,744)
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 3,474 3,848

At 31 December 2015, trade receivables of $4,525,000 (2014: $5,024,000)
were individually determined to be impaired. The individually impaired
receivables were balances in dispute with customers or related to
customers that were in financial difficulties and management assessed
that only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.
Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts of $3,474,000 (2014:
$3,848,000) were recognised.

R-ZE—RE+-_A=+—0 K&EEHRE
W Z S ERTEE H4,525,0007 (=T — P04 :
5,024,000 7T ) 1% & B ¥ TR (E 1 B 89 E
EIEEHNZELPH R L ERE  mMiEEE
BEE - RASMHRIET AUE - RAEE
2 BI1E3,474,0007T (== —PU4F : 3,848,000
T0) RIRIERRIEE -
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15 Trade and other receivables (Continued) 15 BRESEAMERR (@
(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired (c) XREEREFBEZEVRESIRE

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

BREERERRBEE ZREREDT

100

2015 2014

—E-AF —E—MmEF

$'000 $'000

FT T

Neither past due nor impaired AEIEA N ER R 38,905 53,627

Less than 1 month past due BEAR LK —EA 7,280 8,667

1to 3 months past due BEEA—Z==EA 3,006 3,161
More than 3 months but less BHRA=(EA

than 12 months past due =2+_@A 564 1,653

More than 12 months past due BEEAZRTZ[@A 163 968

11,013 14,449

49,918 68,076

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide
range of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable.

RE R MEREZBKESRE - BRT
HPR BRI EP » FTATER R -

BIMENMEREBEZREESRARSEZER
HEFGCENERNTFER - BAELER
HAEEEYESANNE  EEEHREE
AptiE LeRIRIE B - AR DRRELLE
RFRIAR 2R

16 Amounts due from/(to) holding companies, 16 MEWRHEFREREAT  AREEL
fellow subsidiaries and related companies FIRFAZEAFIRER
Amounts due from/(to) holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and related BRTEESRIBERE HIERIZ RN - B
companies are unsecured, interest-free and do not have fixed repayment REIERAT - BRMB AT REZERR]
terms except for the following trade-related amounts which are repayable RIBEER - 2 ERERTEEER
under normal trade terms:
2015 2014
—B-HF —E-F
$'000 $'000
T T
Amounts due from holding companies FEUGERR A ]
and fellow subsidiaries PAEES =N S 7,140 11,478
Amounts due to holding companies JERTERR A A
and fellow subsidiaries PAEES NG (402) (1,378)
Amounts due to related companies FEfHREE A FIBRIE (957) (2,977)
The trade-related balances were not past due as at 31 December 2015 HEFGHBAZEFR _E—AF kN
and 2014. FTZA=+—BIRBIH -
Related companies included a non-controlling shareholder and companies, Eﬁ;@&ET@E;&EEEH&%}&&%%@H&@E
the ultimate holding company of which has significant influence over the HAREREALENAF -
Group.
[
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(BRABIETIN - BERAEEFHEHE)

17 Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits 17

(@

(b)

Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits comprise: (a)

Bank deposits within three months of

maturity when placed
Cash at bank and in hand

FREISHER=EAN
HYERITFN
RITREGFERIRE

Cash and cash equivalents

in the consolidated statement

of financial position and

consolidated cash flow statement

AR
SESRE e B
KR e RFRREIER

Bank deposits with more than

three months to maturity
when placed

TR 2 8 B e =18 A
EIRTT IR

BeRkSERARBEERBITER
BHeFERBLER RIRTERERE

2015 2014

—E-HF —ZE—NF

$'000 $'000

T T

51,280 68,277

46,438 40,297

97,718 108,574

50,882 27,054

Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits as at 31 December 2015
include $23,564,000 (2014: $12,475,000) placed with banks in Mainland
China, the remittance of which is subject to relevant rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

R-ZZE—RAF+-_A=+—H RE&KZER
ReBERRTHERBEBETRATBEAMIRE
723,564,000 7T ( — & — PO £ : 12,475,000
J0) - EEFAES PR EBATEM R MERERE &
HNEESE R FTE I o

Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to cash (b) BR®A (BB BRFELCEEECR
generated from operations: SRAREHR -
2015 2014
—E-RE — T4
Note $'000 $'000
B 3% Tr i
(Loss)/profit before taxation wFial (E18) &F (16,053) 37,227
Adjustments for: T A EEEE T
Amortisation of land lease premium THE T Hh I8 2 Eh 5Y 5(c) 2,588 2,599
Depreciation of property, plant M WBNREZITE
and equipment 5(c) 20,548 20,258
Depreciation of investment properties — &&EWE 2T E 5(c) 3,356 2,722
Interest expense FEXH 5(a) 4,373 4,253
Interest income FEUA 4 (887) (1,522)
Net gain on disposal of non-current assets  H & IERENE = 2 F & F 4 (2,351) (1,415)
Forfeiture of unclaimed dividends ARBZIRE T — (214)
Foreign exchange losses SN S 7 stE 1,997 311
Changes in working capital: OB BN 7 B
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEz Ggm SRS (1,006) 7,362
Decrease in trade and other receivables  FEUSE 5 & H fb BR1E
o 13,826 4,536
Decrease/(increase) in net amounts USRS A B K
due from holding companies and RZRME A RIERIE
fellow subsidiaries SFEE R A (38h0) 4,294 (14,609)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due FEULRRE A FIBRIE
from related companies ZRL () 403 (665)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts JEfS R E A BIBRIE
due to related companies 2z (%) R (655) 532
Decrease in trade and other payables — fEf2 5 R E b BEIE 2~ > (7,334) (26,455)
(Decrease)/increase in retirement BIRENEEZ
benefit liabilities Cr) /1 (172) 316
Cash generated from operations KEXEB2HEMA 22,927 35,236
[
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18 Trade and other payables 18 EfEZRHEMIER
2015 2014
—B-HEF —T-mE
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Trade payables e B 58RIE 46,300 47,448
Other creditors and accrued charges H Ath FESBRIE 58,160 64,370
104,460 111,818

Other creditors and accrued charges include provisions for advertising HENRERBREARERSELNEE
and promotion costs of $17,834,000 (2014: $23,643,000). B & B A517,834,0000T ( = Z — 0 F -
23,643,0007T) °

FEHRZR—FRI NN EMEMNEER
FEIRE A5 B /&2,620,0007T (ZZ — P4 -
2,555,0007C) ° FTE Eb B E 5 R H AR
BB E—FRI -

The amounts of other creditors and accrued charges expected to be settled
after more than one year are $2,620,000 (2014: $2,555,000). All of the other
trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

The ageing of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period is as ENESRENGEE B ZRERIT -

follows:
2015 2014
—E-RE —ZE—F
$'000 $'000
T T
Current and less than 1 month past due REEA KRB R DR —1{E A 44,443 42,359
1 to 3 months past due BEBEA—Z==@A 1,574 4,616
3to 6 months past due BHAA==EA 247 331
More than 6 months past due BEARZ RN EA 36 142
46,300 47,448

AEBN—RIRERBNEREMR—=
ME R MEE o Bty - BRI EI B A
PR—EANBHBARBNEEERRRME

The Group's general payment terms are one to two months from the
invoice date. Therefore, the current and less than one month past due
balances above are mostly within two to three months from the invoice

date. =—fEAR
19 Loan from an intermediate holding company 19 HNMEEAFZER
At 31 December 2015, the loan from an intermediate holding company RZFB-AF+_A=1+—H FNMERA
was repayable as follows: Bl BEFZAR THIHREE -
2015 2014
—E-AF —TmE
$'000 $°000
T Tt
within 1 year or on demand —FANEREREER — 50,904
After 1 year but within 2 years —F B BEMFERN 50,866 50,904
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBERAFA 139,881 89,081
190,747 139,985
190,747 190,889
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19 Loan from an intermediate holding company 19 HRAEERATFRZER (@
(Continued)
Loan from an intermediate holding company is unsecured, repayable in RNERATIZCERAEER TR
fifteen equal instalments from March 2017 and bears interest at one year —tF= AR TREEE  AENFIEX
LIBOR plus 1.5% which ranged from 2.01% to 2.59% during the year (2014: A FHmBBITREFTEMISYS - &
2.05% t0 2.16%). B201% 2259% ( —F —UFERNE205% %

2.16%) °
20 Employee retirement benefits 20 EREHKEIEF
(@) Defined benefit retirement plan (@) TEEEFEBAKGTE

(in

The Group operates a defined benefit retirement plan which covers 13%
(2014: 14%) of the Group’s employees. The plan is administered by an
independent trustee, with the assets held separately from those of the
Group. The members' benefits are determined based on the employees’
final remuneration and length of service. Contributions to the plan are
made in accordance with the recommendations of an independent
actuary who values the retirement plan at regular intervals.

For the purposes of preparing these financial statements, an independent
actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 December 2015 by the
independent actuary following the methodology set out in HKAS 19,
Employee benefits.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

AEBRBHE13% (ZF N5 : 14%) ZEE

RHERREMENRGE - ZEt 80— 28

MERARRER  WEAAREEZEESFHBY

B¥E - X B AT iRE B 2 Rk H & MR

FHAHE - SFBIZHRDRIE—RBUBE

EEZ%E%;’%%T © ZAEEENE B ARG BIME
A -

BESN - BB RBENER G ERAF19
SIEEREN] 2ER T —RF+ A
=+ —RETES - UREREMEER
%o

RSN R IERZ T

2015 2014

—E-AEF —E—MmF

$'000 $'000

F7 T

Present value of funded obligations EEEERNIRE 99,080 95,102
Fair value of plan assets HEEECARE (72,141) (74,987)
Retirement benefit liabilities RINEFEE 26,939 20,115

A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled after more than
one year. However, it is not practicable to segregate this amount from the
amounts payable in the next twelve months, as the retirement benefit
payable to plan members and future contributions to plan assets will also
depend on staff revenue and future changes in actuarial assumptions.

Plan assets consist of the following:

(in

Bt BERBHNEE - FEXN - A
- ARERRENE BN E 2 BN R RS
FABEEZARERARTBEBRRZAR
EE) > FAt NEERSZEREERK T
A2 BN ED FRE -

SHEaEeE

2015 2014
—E-EHF —ET—NF
$'000 $'000
T T
Mutual funds HEIES 71,997 73,787
Cash Re 144 1,200
72,141 74,987
I
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20 Employee retirement benefits (Continued) 20 EREBHEEF (B
(@) Defined benefit retirement plan (Continued) (@) TEEEABMAKTE B
(ii) At the end of each reporting period, an asset-liability matching study (i) REBELER  ZITAQETEAEARGTR
was performed by the trustees to analyse the outcome of the strategic T WHOMREBR SRR ZER - K&
investment policies. The investment portfolio targets a mix of 45% in AEHEAE—ZRINITEZISBBREHELSEA R
equity securities across a range of industries and 55% in government 55% BIFES o (ZT— MU : 45% R FHFEFH
bonds (2014: 45% in equity securities across a range of industries and 55% 404 & 55% BUTES) o
in government bonds).
(iii) Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations: (iii) EFEEN B ENREZ
2015 2014
—E-RfF —E=—E
$'000 $'000
T Tt
At 1 January R—HA—H 95,102 89,613
Remeasurements: Eif
— Actuarial gains arising from — AORBREREFELRN
changes in demographic assumptions TaE 2 — (1,110)
— Actuarial losses arising from — SRR EEEER
changes in financial assumptions rEE E1E 2,026 2,692
— Actuarial losses arising from — B EEER
changes in experience fEEEE 688 897
2,714 2,479
Benefits paid by the plan FTEIZ T 2 12 A (5,408) (4,008)
Current service cost I8 B AR TS AR AN 5,114 5,194
Interest cost FB A 1,558 1,824
At 31 December W+=-—A=+—H 99,080 95,102
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations is 6.5 EREMNAEZMETHERR6LF (ZF
years (2014: 6.8 years). —P4F : 6.8%F) ©
(iv)  Movements in plan assets: (v FEIBEZ#
2015 2014
—E-IfF —E—MFE
$'000 $'000
Tt FT
At 1 January Rn—A—H 74,987 71,953
Contributions paid to the plan by the employer B RET 2R 5,785 5,136
Benefits paid by the plan B 2 @ F (5,408) (4,008)
Interest income B A 1,267 1,517
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income STEEE 2 EHR (PERFENEWA) (4,282) 340
Administrative expenses paid from plan assets STEEEZITHEX (208) 49
At 31 December Rt+t=-—A=1+—8H 72,141 74,987
[ ]
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20 Employee retirement benefits (Continued) 20 EREH#HE2EF (&
(@) Defined benefit retirement plan (Continued) @ EBEEMERAKETE (E)
(v) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive  (v) REFEEERERER AT -
income are as follows:
2015 2014
—E-0fF —E—MF
$'000 $'000
F Tt
Current service cost IR B AR S AR AN 5,114 5,194
Net interest on net defined benefit liability FREEMEAB T B E5E 291 307
Administrative expenses paid from plan assets SFEEEZITHEX 208 (49)
Total amounts recognised in profit or 10ss RIBERRER Z X 5,613 5,452
Actuarial losses BEER 2,714 2,479
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income SEIEEZRBR (TEEMNEWA) 4,282 (340)
Total amounts recognised in other REMEEKERERZ
comprehensive income FX 6,996 2,139
Total defined benefit costs TEREfR MK A 4ARE 12,609 7,591
The current service cost and the net interest EREE RIS A & EsEEF
on net defined benefit liability are recognised FEEZFEFEIIRN
in the following line items in the consolidated T alkhzER A
income statement: ZIEE PR
— Cost of sales — SHERRAR 766 36
— Selling and distribution expenses — HERDHEBX 2,956 2,310
— Administrative expenses — {TE R 1,891 3,106
5,613 5,452
(viy  Significant actuarial assumptions and a sensitivity analysis are as follows: (vi) FEMRBRERRIMEHEDTAOT
2015 2014
—E—-h0fF —T—UE
Discount rate BHIR R 1.40% 1.70%
Future salary increases RIRF & 21800 5.00% 5.00%

The analysis set out below shows how the defined benefit obligation as at
31 December 2015 would have increased/(decreased) as a result of a 0.25%

Nk
I%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁf?\ff EFE+-A=+—H

WA EREERR025% 2 ¥

change in the significant actuarial assumptions: &g/ ( ) W
Increase Decrease
of 0.25% of 0.25%
#110.25% WA 0.25%
$'000 $'000
F T Tt
Discount rate ARIR =& (1,693) 1,741
Future salary increases R E S 23N 1,782 (1,747)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that changes
in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore it does not take
into account the correlations between the actuarial assumptions.

ElBREDTEZREBERR 2ELET
1EEE  EBURED LT E BHEERR
REAERE L o
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20 Employee retirement benefits (Continued) 20 EREBH#HEEF (50
(b) Defined contribution retirement plans (b) TEBEMFCRATE
0} Staff employed by the Group in Hong Kong who are not members of the (i) RIEES CREIEATESEEIED) - K&
above defined benefit retirement plan are required to join the Group's EEESEBmMITEMA L FEEEFEK
mandatory provident fund plan under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident HEMEES ANAANEERGSEAES
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The mandatory provident fund plan is a defined T2l - s BlERESFE N —ERBELEE
contribution retirement plan administered by an independent corporate SZRAABENEREEFRIRGE - RIEEH
trustee. Under the plan, the Group and its employees are each required to e AEEREEES AR EELH
make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, P HEAREEEWABNSY%  HEABEM
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of $30,000 ($25,000 prior to ABHE&E/KFE A30,000T (ZF—MHFN
June 2014). Contributions to the plan vest immediately. A LART £25,0007T) © ¥ 5T E17E H &9 51BN
RS o
(i Employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of pension (i) FEIE R EMRE AT B BT EER IR
schemes operated by the PRC government. The Group is required to ReFrEMKE - NEBEAEHFPRRKE
contribute 12.00% to 14.00% (2014: 12.00% to 20.00%) of employees’ HEHKEAEEBAENIRE®RES  BEA
remuneration to these pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only EEMEA12.00% = 14.00% ( —F —PO4F :
obligation for the Group with respect to these pension schemes is the 12.00% £ 20.00%) - AEBE BB R REKRE
required contribution under the central pension scheme. Contributions to SR RIS AREP RBIRESETEIZBE
these schemes vest immediately. A B o R EEL MR RE -
21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 21 HMBRARRINZEERIE
financial position
(@) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (a) CHERAZELZHEEEREE
The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the REETBRNKREERZEEHBEEER
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during BEZHEKIBORFRZEEINT
the year are as follows:
Depreciation  Impairment
allowances losses for
inexcess of  receivables  Retirement
the related and benefit
depreciation  inventories liabilities Tax losses Total
nERBE EWERE
BRAEENE kFE BAEF
ZEE  ZHEEE 28 BEER @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T FiT
Deferred tax arising from: BRERERY :
At 1 January 2014 R=ZE—NF—F—H 53,454 (154) (2,914) (47,448) 2938
Charged/(credited) to profitor loss M EzH
(note 6(a) Mk (GEA) (FisE6() 1,063 74 217 (1,183) 171
Credited to equity (note 9) PERPEA (FEE9) — — (622) — (622)
At 31 December 2014 RZE-WFE+=A=1+—H
and 1January 2015 k=—Z—h%F—A—H 54,517 (80) (3,319) (48,631) 2,487
Charged/(credited) to profitor loss ~ FMEzE
(note 6(a)) Mk (GEA) (FiizE6(a)) 585 28 (26) 269 856
Credited to equity (note 9) PEEREA (F17E9) - — (1,100) - (1,100)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-AF+=A=1+—H 55,102 (52) (4,445) (48,362) 2,243
[ ]
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21

(b)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of 21
financial position (Continued)
Deferred tax assets not recognised: (b)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following
items, which pertain to the subsidiaries in the PRC and the Company:

MK RAIIZEERE (%)

KRR ZEEHIAEE

AEBRPEANMNBARRARRL AT
PS8 B A5 BUZ IBAE AU IR B E U FERR -

2015 2014
—E-HF —E=—OF
$'000 $'000
T T
Tax losses FRIEEE 474,709 543,636
Deductible temporary differences AR R E R 278,794 360,369
753,503 904,005
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(p), deferred RIEFIR M EE 10) R 5T IR - A ARAE

tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above items as it is
not probable that the relevant entities will generate future taxable profits
against which the above items can be utilised.

The unrecognised tax losses relating to the PRC subsidiaries can be
carried forward up to five years from the year in which the loss originated
and will expire in the following years:

TEMRRAP B A B R RBESES B SRR A
MABINEL RS - AR B R IR _E5TR

BATSI B2 BIERIA B E ©

ERTENBARAERNRBABEAESE
BERFER  BREIMFEOWT

2015 2014

—E-EF —E g4

$'000 $'000

T T

2015 —E R — 135,636
2016 TE—REE 134,242 142,566
2017 —E—F 94,471 100,330
2018 —E=—\F 36,812 39,094
2019 —ET—hE 43,504 45,198
2020 —ECEFE 58,110 —
367,139 462,824

The unrecognised tax losses relating to the Company were $107,570,000
(2014: $80,812,000) and do not expire under current tax legislation.

N B AR HERR B9 i 1H B 18 & 107,570,000 7T
(ZZE—VY4 : 80,812,0007T) * WHAIRITH

BROIT T EEIH -
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22 capital, reserves and dividends 22 BF - FHEERER
(@) Movements in components of equity () HEEIIEEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of KEEZZ BREFHZ IS FET M FERTA
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the A REES @jﬁ\%ﬁq&‘u%‘g NNTE 2 EAE
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the pg HEONEY R ERSEEFIFEN AT
Company'’s individual components of equity between the beginning and & -
the end of the year are set out below:
Share Share Retained
capital premium profits Total
&S B3R 1E Wi e wE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
Balance at 1 January 2014 R-E—MF—f— A& 186,785 65,739 200,069 452,593
Changes in equity for 2014: —E-EREEE
Actuarial gains and losses of TR RS
defined benefit retirement plan, ZEE RN REE
net of tax (BFiR) — — (1,517) (1,517)
Profit for the year EEREF — — 36,495 36,495
Dividends approved in respectof  F—BiEEE L EZ RS
the previous year (note 22(b)) (P 5E 22(0)) — — (3,736) (3,736)
Transition to no-par value regime R-ZE—NE=A=HBEZE
on 3 March 2014 (note 22(c)) &EEHE (FFE220) 65,739 (65,739) — —
Dividends declared in respect of RETHF EHVR 2 R B
the current year (note 22(o)) (P 5E 22(0)) — — (3,736) (3,736)
Unclaimed dividends forfeited RBB B LS — — 214 214
Balance at 31 December 2014 RK=-Z-—NE+-A=+—H
and 1 January 2015 R=ZE-RF—-A—B&& 252,524 — 227,789 480,313
Changes in equity for 2015: “E-IERREE:
Actuarial gains and losses of ERBEIRIRETE
defined benefit retirement plan, ZIEE R N EE
net of tax (BFi1%) — — (5,896) (5,896)
Loss for the year FEER — — (20,253) (20,253)
Dividends approved in respectof  F—BiEEE I EZ RS
the previous year (note 22(b)) (Ffi 5% 22(0)) — — (3,736) (3,736)
Balance at 31 December 2015 R=-—ZE—R&+-HA=1+—H#&sH 252,524 — 197,904 450,428
(b) Dividends (b) KE
0) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to (i) RATERFBEAZFERE
the year
2015 2014
—E-EF —PaE
$'000 $ 000
Fr Tt
Interim dividend declared and paid of $Nil FHARR BB T RART T
per ordinary share (2014: 0.01 per ordinary share) (_T P4 - tﬂﬁi #f%0.017T) — 3,736
Final dividend proposed after the end of REEHE BB # R AR B S
the reporting period of $Nil per ordinary share BRRE BT T
(2014: $0.01 per ordinary share) (ZZ—OF : FRE®%0.017T) — 3,736
— 7,472
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not REEBRBERZIRE  WEERAEEH
been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period. =
[
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22 cCapital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 22 BEx - - FHREREE (@
(b) Dividends (Continued) (b) RKRE (®)
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to (i) RERBERZ N T ARG ERFEAZR
the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year TFEERE
2015 2014
—E-HF g
$'000 $'000
Ft Tt
Final dividend in respect of A LA R S A+
the previous financial year, approved and B FEREAREIRE
paid during the year, of $0.01 per ordinary share BB 0.01 7T
(2014: 0.01 per ordinary share) (ZF—NF : FREBEX0.017T) 3,736 3,736
(c) Share capital (c) m=A
2015 2014
—E-AF ZT—mF
No. of No. of
shares shares
RHOHE RnHERE
‘000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
Tt T
Ordinary shares, issued ZER - BT
and fully paid: RS RRA :
At 1 January ®n—A—H 373,570 252,524 373,570 186,785
Transition to no-par value regime RA-—Z—MMF=HA=H
on 3 March 2014 (note) EEEEEREE () — — — 65,739
At 31 December Wt+=—A=+—8 373,570 252,524 373,570 252,524
Note:  The transition to the no-par value regime under the Hong Kong Companies WEE - BBEEBEREEH - BEEEmERD S
Ordinance occurred automatically on 3 March 2014. On that date, the share ERZZE—EF=A=ZHEBER - RNi%
premium account and any capital redemption reserve were subsumed B RBIEDIMR11E371& BRIDEE
into share capital in accordance with section 37 of Schedule 11 to the BRANE (] AR A BE Bl (R 4 B AR o i
Ordinance. These changes did not impact the number of shares in issue BTG BB ST R IR R AR
or the relative entitlement of any of the shareholders. Since that date, BmIETE - BBk fTEREAE
all changes in share capital have been made in accordance with the BRI IKGISE 4 R E S EREKEIE -

requirements of Parts 4 and 5 of the Ordinance.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as LERFEAGRMDTHERMRE @ I
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at AEARARBIREG EHRA —REHIR—F -
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to HRARBWFGREE  FIEEBREZE
the Company’s residual assets. R o

[
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22 capital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 22 BF - FHiERERR (@

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (d) HEHERAZ

(i) Capital reserve (i) =N
The capital reserve represents the reserve arising from the capitalisation BARETE—HPEWE AR 2 REEF
of retained profits of PRC subsidiaries. B EE 2 i o

(ii)  Exchange fluctuation reserve (i) ERRBHE
The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign exchange PR B R E R EERETEANZHEA
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of R BRREAZMAELEZELNRBES
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and the foreign exchange differences ¥IEH (ZRIEMBRINMEM B AR 2 FE
arising from translation of monetary items that in substance form part of B) ZERERE - ZEBREME16) ez
the net investment in subsidiaries outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt SETBER MERE ©
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(s).

(e) Distributability of reserves (e) 2IkfEE
At 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount of reserves available for RZE—RAFE+-_A=+—B8B BFE
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated under BLRARER)Y B2 IEXEE > Al
the provision of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was RKEBE T AR EREAEAZGERES
$197,904,000 (2014: $227,789,000). 197,904,000 T ( = = — PO 4 : 227,789,000

TT) °

(f) Capital management f BAREE
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard AREEEEEAMTERZEEREEEK
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue WIS B WmEE BRI OISR A A
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, EMiERRmERRGTE  ARR/KFEREE
by pricing products commensurately with the level of risk and by securing EREE  UWEBRESSEMNBERA -
access to finance at a reasonable cost.
The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure AEBEBETHEEARARERARN LE
to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder returns that might B AEREREEHRER T A g &
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and SEBEKTFERIFNEARRTERAOES N
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to 1RFE 7 BEVEFE  WHEEKEIRER S
the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions. HEREEEH A -
Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital structure REBNERNEBEH R AEMEITHER
on the basis of an adjusted net-debt to equity ratio. For this purpose the g EATEMER—H- - AAEEA
Group defines adjusted net-debt as loan from an intermediate holding B AEBTHEHAZRFEEAPNIEZERA
company plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less bank deposits and B2 EF R ARHERIRIE BB R TR IR
cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components of S RERBSIER o KHBEENBIE AR
equity less unaccrued proposed dividends. wAKE D BARGTRENRARE
During 2015, the Group'’s strategy was to maintain the adjusted net-debt REZZT—RF  AEEZREEIEHIGHAZE
to equity ratio at a reasonable level, not exceeding 100%. In order to BERFEBLEERVI00%EEAN - & T #HH
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may issue new shares or sell assets SRR REES T @K
to reduce debt. IR ESHEEEDURERFEE -

I
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22 cCapital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 22 BEx - - FHREREE (@
(f)  Capital management (Continued) f BAREE (8)
The net-debt to equity ratio at 31 December 2015 and 2014 was as R-IE—AFR_E—NF+_A=+—H
follows: ZERFBAELERNT
2015 2014
—E-hfF —E—MF
Note $'000 $'000
bz Fi T
Loan from an intermediate RITER KRR N
holding company less ERARZER
bank deposits and BRI ERKRIES
cash and cash equivalents RERBESER 42,147 55,261
Add: Proposed dividends s BURIRE 22(b) — 3,736
Adjusted net debt KRR BESTHE 42,147 58,997
Equity T 544,986 571,949
Less: Proposed dividends B ERRAR B 22(b) — (3,736)
Adjusted capital AR ER 544,986 568,213
Adjusted net-debt to equity ratio KRB ERFEEHLR 8% 10%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally ARA R B A R ER BINMEE AT
imposed capital requirements. Ko
23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 SMEAREERAAMEE
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the REBTE—REBBERGFEEE  KHE
normal course of the Group's business. The Group's exposure to these & FIRRERRINERR - AEBBEEZE
risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the iR E R AEBPAHEAEEZS R 2 M
Group to manage these risks are described below. HBERBE RIS - St o
(@  Credit risk (@ =EERKE

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on
an ongoing basis.

Credit limits are offered to customers following a financial assessment
and an established payment record. The general credit period is payment
by the end of the month following the month in which sales take place.
Security in the form of mortgages, cash deposits or bank guarantees is
obtained from certain customers. Customers who are considered to have
higher credit risk are required to trade on a cash basis. Credit control staff
monitor trade receivables and follow up collections.

AEBENEERRIZREEKE S REM
RERRSMEFRBREAR - BEERIERE
EEE  MASREERZEEERR -

SRRBINETHEFEREERERY
MRS MEE - —REENHEANE
ARSI - AEEGERLEFE
BB - RITHERSIRITEMRIEREM - &5
RREFERRERAR  BIURSETR
5 EEEZEARSETERKEZFFAKR
WK o

—_—
—_
—



San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Ltd. Annual Report 2015

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)

23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 SHEREERAAMEE ®
(Continued)

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@) EEEE® @)
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual REFZZEREBIEZERNEPHTE
characteristics of each customer. At the end of the reporting period, 19% Lo PNEEH 19%(ZZE—WF - 17%) &
(2014: 17%) and 56% (2014: 49%) of the total trade and other receivables 56% (=ZZ— U : 49%) KEWRE 5 & EAh
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers RIEDRIRERNEESGATFRARES ¢
respectively.
The Group do not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group AEBWERAEEEGERMEEEERR -
to credit risk.
The Group’s bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents are placed REBWR S RERIRSEREZEGFHNER
with financial institutions with sound credit ratings and the management AR R e R o Bt - BERERRAR
considers the Group's exposure to credit risk is low. SEmENERRER AR -
The Group's exposure to the credit risk and its policies for managing such AEEAZNEZERBEEEERREA-F
risk were unchanged from 2014. —HFEAER -

(b)  Liquidity risk (b) FEBELREK
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their own BRELELEaEHEAGNIESEERIT
cash management. The Group regularly monitors its liquidity requirements BAEBERRTHERERHESTE - U
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate EREGFE MRS FEE N T B SEEE
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions and related AHRETHESREET  UneEEBEE
parties to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. 7 RmEhEeE ko
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23

(b)

Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at the end
of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay:

23

(b)

EREREERARRE

REBESER (8)

TERRAEEREE AN BREZ AR
HREFADIT - WAFTTORBRRSRE
(BRI EERFAEZFIB T - a8
FRER  MEEAER ZREFEZAE
) RARERHRER 2 & FENR B ME
AT 22 o

2015
—E-1F

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
EHNLREBRNELRE

More than More than
Within 1 year hut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
—FR%
RERE —F% mE#R
) EBRER BEER Lt REA
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T
Trade and other payables BB S REMERE 104,460 — — 104,460 104,460
Loan from an intermediate RIMERA R ZER
holding company 5,193 55,550 145,557 206,300 190,747
Amounts due to holding companies &ML A
and fellow subsidiaries REZHBARERIE 5,375 - - 5,375 5,375
Amounts due to related companies  fEftEAE A BIERIE 5,016 - - 5,016 5,016
120,044 55,550 145,557 321,151 305,598
2014
—T-pF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHEREENRSE
More than More than
Within 1year but 2 years but
1year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
—FR
REREF —F1& RE%
gl) BMFA BERFR Fiak FEE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T TIT T
Trade and other payables ENE S KEMERE 111,818 = = 111,818 111,818
Loan from an intermediate RNERARZER
holding company 54,612 53,482 90,979 199,073 190,889
Amounts due to holding companies  FERHERX A ]
and fellow subsidiaries RRZMB AR 5414 = = 5,414 5414
Amounts due to related companies  FES BB A FIERIE 5,671 = = 5,671 5,671
177,515 53,482 90,979 321,976 313,792
[
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23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 SHEREERAAMEE ®
(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIEREp
The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing $%IZ7TUTJ—L S EERABERELE - K
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash BRI BRI ENE KT - REBH
flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its variable rate E.I@J“W B RSB E R T3C() ©
borrowings. The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by management
is set out in (i) below.
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FlZ=aEE
The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s loan from THRARNEBREERZRNIERARIZE
an intermediate holding company at the end of the reporting period: T2 F) R
2015 2014
—E-4fF —E—E
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
% $'000 % $'000
BERAE -] EE(VIES x|
% Tt % R
Variable rate borrowings: SFENRIEE R
— Loan from an intermediate ~ — RNMERA T 2 E K
holding company 2.59 190,747 214 190,889
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BSBEDH
At 31 December 2015, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of RZFT—RF+-A=+—HR fEflkL
100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, F/THR—BET  EEMAEBEAERET
would have increased/decreased the Group's loss after taxation and TEOBERAT  AEBEARFERTZEE
decreased/increased in the Group's retained profits by approximately 15 m, A R B BRI R L4
$1,907,000 (2014: decreased/increased the Group's profit after taxation 1,907,0007C (ZE—M0F : KAEERTER
and retained profits by approximately $1,909,000). The tax effect was & RErEF R L, 111,909,000 7T) °
assumed to be nil as the entity which has drawn down the loan had FR AR BE T TE AR SR RE S0 1S B SR B SR T & A
unrecognised tax losses for deferred tax purposes and it is not probable DU ESE - BEQ W ARERREE
that it will generate future taxable profits against which the tax losses can BFTERIERIE - AR EIERE -
be utilised.
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in SRS TR AR ERRRBE (B518)
the Group's (loss)/profit after taxation and retained profits in respect %%‘J&%.#”TUZEHH“% TIERR AL E
of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate REEHMFENTSHRETE - 5|8AE
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting period. The EEGHEeRAEREAES - NEEKRH
impact on the Group's (l0ss)/profit after taxation and retained profits is % (&18) /BRI REFBANTERUZE
estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense of such a change TR HF EBANTEFEEGR -
in interest rates.
[
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23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 SpEREERAAMEE ®
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (d) SERBE

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales, purchases,
borrowings, expenses and recharges amongst group entities which
give rise to receivables, payables, loans and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars and Euros.

For group entities whose functional currency is Hong Kong dollars,
all sales and purchases are denominated in either Hong Kong dollars
or United States dollars, except for certain purchases from Europe or
Australia. Given that Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States
dollar, management do not expect that there will be any significant
currency risk associated with such United States dollar denominated
transactions. For transactions denominated in Euros, management
monitor the level of exposure closely and take actions such as an earlier
settlement considering movements in the exchange rate. For transactions
denominated in Australian dollars, since the volume of such transactions
is not significant, management consider the exposure to currency risk to
be low.

For group entities whose functional currency is Renminbi, except for
certain transactions amongst group entities that are denominated in either
Hong Kong dollars or United States dollars, most of other transactions are
denominated in Renminbi. For those transactions amongst group entities
denominated in United States dollars or Hong Kong dollars, management
consider the transaction amounts are not significant and the exposure to
currency risk is low.

The Group's exposure to currency risk and its policies for managing such
risk were unchanged from 2014.

AEETEREERS B3R KEZH
B8R N EEL SN (A% 50 E
WIRBER 2 EH) BB B
o BAERR - BRERSET  AmEY
SMERER o SIBOMNERBRZ BB TR BIEE
TTRBREE o

HNEBERABTHENEEENSEERE -
B L fn BN SORMNETTIREB SN - PTA
HEMBEYUABTRETERZER - i
BT EETTEME - AR ETERET B
TEXTEEAREEE - ERUBEEZ
X5 BREETYEZEEENNERKF
I e PR O R B PREUAE B - QAR ATASDR - =
RIAVRTEFHEZ RS ARAZEEHEHE
MXHENS  MAKERRAELENERH
SMERER K e

HRNEBAAARBIEDREERNSEE
B BRTHEEARZRNETRETIEE
i B R ZFRUARMEIEER - GRASEE
AAERTHAETEEMNR S TEERR
RHERTIEKR  AEHEHNEBINERRT
* o

AEBAZIMNERB R EEERRE —T
—PEEAAMR] °
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23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 fRHERRERRAAEE®
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) SPERBS (48)

(i) Exposure to currency risk (i) AZ 2 HNER K

The following tables detail the Group’s significant exposure at the end of
the reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot
rates at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation of the
financial statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong into the Group's
presentation currency and the exposure arising from the borrowings
from group entities that in substance form part of the net investment in
subsidiaries are excluded.

TERRAEBSEEAWIEAEBERGEE
BHENECHEREEXBEMET ZIMNER
BIELFFADN - TRTBREEBEAELH
BRRHEL AR (R ERER S EK KB
RAERFRE N — &) MELWER - T
RONSREMRER B 2 EXRF R EEIER
52 B o FEEREBUAINGE QR 2 B 5 ®
??‘EE%ZJS%E’\J%@JEMHﬁEEE’U%%EjﬁT\E
A ©

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HEER (RBTAE)
2015 2014
—E-RF —E—F
United United
States States
dollars Euros dollars Euros
Ey E¢3 ET W#E
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr T T
Trade and other receivables FEUWE 5 & H b BRTE 2,107 41 2,496 27
Amounts due from holding FEUIEAZ A A)
companies and fellow REZRMTE R RRE
subsidiaries 7,132 — 11,486 —
Bank deposits 15,502 — — —
Cash and cash equivalents B RERIRELEHE 8,417 15 3,307 66
Trade and other payables ENE S REAMERE (4,668) (234) (2,061) (759)
Loan from an intermediate RMERABIZER
holding company (190,747) — (190,889) —
Amounts due to holding FERTERR A A
companies and fellow REZRMTE R RRE
subsidiaries (5,311) — (4,968) —
Amounts due to related [ REARIIRE
companies (611) (5) (2,715) ()
Net exposure Bl (168,179) (183) (183,344) (672)
I
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23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 SpEREERAAMEE ®
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) sMNERES (&)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BB
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group's Ti’«%aﬁa—\Zﬁ‘E IB\ EEARAE KRR
(loss)/profit after taxation and retained profits that would have arisen INEESTER A E B & HBEYAREEZ HFH%E (E‘Zﬁ
if foreign exchange rates to which the group entities had significant B) B &%uﬂ%frwz&ﬂﬁ% TE DEX
exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date, HipRREHTE - gtk s - EREBA T
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is &%nZFﬁE’JHﬁ@%ETKﬁJ:Tx%ERﬁ
assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the HEREEZBMTE - WA - AR
United States dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes in T TE R SR BE S0P 1S 2 HA 18 eR A0 22 1) AR 308
movement in value of the United States dollar against other currencies. BEE ERAAEIARGEBIIRZIEL
Also, the tax effect was assumed to be nil for the entities which had B - B EREL EREE
unrecognised tax losses for deferred tax purposes since it is not probable
that they will generate future taxable profits against which tax losses
could be utilised.
2015 2014
—2-1% —I-mF
Increase/ Decrease/ Increase/  Decrease/
(decrease) (increase) Decrease/ (decrease)  (increase)  Decrease/
in foreign inloss (increase) inforeign inprofit  (increase)
exchange after inretained  exchange after i retained
rates  taxation profits rates taxation profits
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
SMEEZR F?ﬁéﬁi?ﬁ ?#Eﬂ SMEER  BREBEAN  REHEF
t#/ "/ WD/ /s B/ B/
(Tk) i‘”’iJﬂ) i‘%ﬂ) (T) (sm) (4Zm)
T T T T
United States dollars xT 10% (483) 483 5% 1 1
(10)% 483 (483) (5)% (1) (1)
Euros B¢/ 10% (18) 18 5% 34 34
(10)% 18 (18) (5)% (34) (34)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an
aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the group entities’
profit or loss measured in the respective functional currencies, translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates
had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the
reporting period, including inter-company payables and receivables within
the Group which are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences
that would result from the translation of the financial statements of
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong into the Group's presentation currency
and the borrowings from group entities that in substance form part of the
net investment in subsidiaries. The analysis has been performed on the
same basis as for 2014.

ERMENZ DI ERIEA R B S EE R
R EBtE (REMEN  CIREHE
AZEXRHBBET) 2 ANFRBmZ A
BHFE -

BREMEDTERBINEER 2 FFHEHNRE
Tt 2 AEEMEE TN EEHFEAEER
EINERB ¢ T HE - BEEBEMANIE
B RE R 2N EBEELL MBI FERT
BEIE - W R ECEENEE T —E54
EHMERJEEBNAETE - O
BIEBEBAINEB AR Z I RERIRE K
NEB 2PN EMMELEZZT o 2B
BT —PUFHR 2 BT o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#& R = HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)
23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 SpEREERAAMEE ®
(Continued)
(e) Fair value (e) AAiEE
Except for the loan from an intermediate holding company (note 19), BIRAENE]  RARMB AR REEQRMIE
other non-trade balances with holding companies, fellow subsidiaries EHREERDABEER LS AREFE
and related companies are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed FHE - A ERARER (HEE19) BN e
repayment terms. Given these terms, it is not meaningful to disclose their ERZERR  BEEARBEZERTK -
fair values.
All other significant financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts FEHEMMEACREERABNEEEE
not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2015 and HEAR-ZET-RAFERER-_FT—NFE+=HA
2014. ET—HANAABETEEAESR -
()  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities ) cREEREHAGERE
Trade discounts payable included in trade and other payables and trade AR ANEERB AR RRFIEECOERS
receivables are offset in the consolidated statement of financial position B WRIRFREEELE  ETARNES
as the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the REABRIE 2 BB ZITMEENE Z8R1E
recognised amounts and intends to settle on a net basis. iR e R R A E RN o
The Group holds cash deposits as collateral over certain trade receivables, NEBFERSESEARS TEWE SEE
which are included in trade payables and not offset against trade ZHEBRR ZERSHAENESRES -
receivables as the Group does not have a legally enforceable right to set WEEEWE ZRBEEKE  REALSE
off the recognised amounts. EIR e Sl e A e - o A B
The following tables set out the carrying amounts of recognised financial TREFZ EATHRE B EREMIA
instruments that are subject to the above arrangements. 2 BRTHE °
2015
“2-1%
Related
Gross amounts Related amounts
of recognised financial Net amounts not offset in
financial instruments presented the statement
instruments in offset in the in the of financial
the statement statement of statement of  position — cash
of financial financial financial collateral
position position position received Net amount
REFRRE REBRRE REBRRERE
ERISMIA EREELR REBRRE  EHRERE
k] I82¢E ZBE BB EERR B
Note $'000 $'000 $/000 $'000 $'000
i I i T T I
Financial assets SREE
Trade and other receivables EWE 5 REMRE 15
— Trade receivables —EWESER 76,877 (25,908) 50,969 (2,510) 48,459
—Financial assets not inthe scope — S BEETEASE
of offsetting disclosures L BEEE 17,803 - 17,803 - 17,803
Financial liabilities SRERE
Trade and other payables B A REMRE 18
— Trade payables —ERESEE 72,208 (25,908) 46,300 - 46,300
— Financial liabilities not in the scope  — £ B & BT
of offsetting disclosures L BREE 58,160 - 58,160 - 58,160
[
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf #& R 3= HizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBERTIN - HIRBEHE)
23 Financial risk management and fair values 23 SpEREERAAMEE ®
(Continued)
()  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities ) EHEERSEREEREE
(Continued)
2014
—T-IF
Related
(Gross amounts Related amounts
of recognised financial Net amounts not offset in
financial instruments presented the statement
instruments in offset in the inthe of financial
the statement statement of Statement of position — cash
of financial financial financial collateral
position position position received Net amount
R & REERR RETERARRE
EREASHIA Riaaca REERAE  ERABZIE—
kx| TAZ4E - WER S E AR 3
Note $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
i R R 7 T T
Financial assets SREE
Trade and other receivables JERE 5 R AR 15
— Trade receivables — BB SEE 100,952 (31,700) 69,252 (2483) 66,769
—Financial assets not inthe scope  — SBAETEHESH
of offsetting disclosures LRBEE 13,387 = 13,387 = 13,387
Financial liabilities SRER
Trade and other payables ERESREMRE 18
— Trade payables —ERBSEE 79,148 (31,700) 47,448 = 47 448
— Financial liabilities not in the scope — 2B & BT
of offsetting disclosures RBEEE 64,370 = 64,370 = 64,370
The gross amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities and their ERABEBEEERVBRAKRF 2 22
net amounts as presented in the statement of financial position that are BERGBAE S  URRBHRRE
disclosed in the above tables are measured in the statement of financial HE SRR R S AR DB o

position at amortised cost.

The amounts in the above tables that are offset in the statement of ERAVERM R R R IRE 2 SF TR
financial position are measured on the same basis. FEREETR -
[ ]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BRBEERTIN - HIRBBHE)
24 Ccommitments 24 i
(@) capital commitments outstanding at 31 December @ R=-B—FE+=-A=+—H k&
2015 not provided for in the financial statements were B RPBE RN ERREFES
as follows: MmE
2015 2014
—E-EF —ENF
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Contracted for 2ET4) — —
Authorised but not contracted for EHEBRETL) 6,750 7,496
6,750 7,496

(b) At 31 December 2015, the total future minimum lease (b)
payments under non-cancellable operating leases were
payable as follows:

R-ZB-HF+ZA=1+—0  RE
T B A S T A 2 RSB
HEFEMT

2015 2014
—E-HE g%
$'000 $'000
T Tt

Land and buildings THREE
Within 1 year —F R 1,309 1,242
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERAFA 1,218 2,409
2,527 3,651

The Group, as a lessee, leases a number of properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to four years
with an option to renew each lease upon expiry when all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARBIERIN  BRBEFHEH

25

(a)

Material related party transactions 25

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following material related
party transactions:

EXREALES

BAMBRRAEREZR S REHRI » K
SEERTATEABEALRS

Transactions with group companies (@) EHKERFEBERS
Due from/(to)
Amounts balances at year end
-] Y (fF) EEEE
Note 2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-RE —mF —E-1F —E-mEF
$'000 $ 000 $'000 $'000
B aE T T T T
Purchases from A= (i)
— intermediate holding companies — AR A A 2,982 4,766 (342) (847)
— fellow subsidiaries — REMBAR 4,674 24,368 (60) (531)
— related companies — @A 21,856 18,367 (957) 2,977)
Sales to i (i)
— an intermediate holding company — F /2R A R 180,422 164,524 7,124 11,478
— fellow subsidiaries — A %Mﬂ* 133 268 16 —
Royalty payments to X NEFEER (i)
— intermediate holding companies — EP)/HI &’& 151 151 (12) (187)
— arelated company — @E 2,116 2,146 (4,059) (2,694)
Interest expense payable to L
— an intermediate holding — B AR]
company (iii) 4,373 4,253 (405) (352)
Advertising and promotion subsidy UM R A BB S
from an intermediate holding K isHE E R A
company (iv) 24,895 26,564 — —
Notes: PFEE -
0] Sales to and purchases from group companies were carried out at terms () tix%ﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬂnz RFGHETT - BRAE

mutually agreed by both parties. The terms of the outstanding balances are
set out in note 16.

Related companies are related to the Group as their ultimate holding
company has a significant influence over the Group.

(i) Royalties are payable to intermediate holding companies and a minority
shareholder for the use of certain trademarks pursuant to relevant licensing
agreements.

During the year, an intermediate holding company waived royalties payable
by the Group amounting to $871,000 (2014: $1,010,000), which is not
included in the amounts disclosed above.

(iii) Interest expense was paid for the loan from an intermediate holding
company.
(iv) Advertising and promotion subsidy was received from an intermediate

holding company for promotion of certain brands in the PRC.

These transactions also constitute connected transactions under the
Listing Rules, except for the purchases from related companies, which the
directors do not consider to be connected transactions under the Listing
Rules.

FEERZ IR FE 16 MFIRR

A3 N R LA 52 B 7 A R L AR P A
AHAEEREATE

D)

(i) ?}%IHEETE%EE%%E?AH%ET A
BERIEES A TR A B R IR AR
REEH -

RAFE  FNERAGDBEAEED
AR P 871,000 (T — P4 -
1,010,0007T) * b & EEIE B BIEEIA £
TR SEET -

(iii) FEBXZHETIBRNMERARER ©

(iv) e AR A BIURER Y R o B T 5 e R A
BETORERE S T IR B HEE

RELETRA - KWERXS (BEBMERARZ
RN BRERER S o HEA RBIRG) -
ARREEFHRBAMERRRSTERER
HER S

—
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(BRABIETIN - BEBEFE)

25 Material related party transactions (Continued)

(b) Other transactions with group companies

25 EXBREALES 30
(b) SEAEMBEERS

Due from/(to)

Amounts balances at year end
] W (fF) EEEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —T-F —E-HF —E-mE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tt T Tt
Expenses paid by the Group BAAEEREEAT
on behalf of group companies R &R
— intermediate holding — RN AT
companies 916 746 — —
— fellow subsidiaries — RRMB AR 31 26 17 12
— a related company — ER A 2,923 3,716 262 665
Expenses paid by group HAEEARRANER
companies on the Group’s KZEH
behalf
— intermediate holding — RN AT
companies 3,645 4,724 (4,549) (3,492)
— fellow subsidiaries — RRKB AT — — (7) (5)

(c) Key management personnel remuneration

(c) ETEEEAEMS

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including REETZETEABZHE (BIEMNE7FTH
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 7 and the BAARREEL M 2 RERWESTHE
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows: METERFESE XN 2FIE) AT
2015 2014
—B-EHF —F-mE
$'000 $'000
Tt T+t
Short-term employee benefits o HifE B a7l 17,420 16,772
Post-employment benefits BER 12 1R A 1,622 1,395
19,042 18,167

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).
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26 company — level statement of financial 26 FOTF — MHRAE
position
2015 2014
—E-—AEF —E—OF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5 Tt Tt
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - HESRERE 375,557 390,302
Interests in leasehold land held for ELEHETEAMBEEDN
own use under operating leases e i 54,946 56,690
430,503 446,992
Intangible assets EmRAE 4,781 4,781
Investments in subsidiaries M B A R RS 630,148 628,842
1,065,432 1,080,615
Current assets RBEE
Inventories PN 31,696 37,326
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 K H A BRTE 57,456 74,155
Amounts due from holding companies &Y= A 7l
and fellow subsidiaries REZXMBARRE 7,131 7,759
Amount due from a subsidiary JE Uk T BB 1 B BRIE 130 —
Amounts due from related companies  fEYLEF:E A 7] BRIE 262 665
Bank deposits RITIFR 15,502 27,054
Cash and cash equivalents RekEREEIEE 96,134 82,501
208,311 229,460
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables FERHE 5 R E A BRIE (45,754) (56,049)
Loan from an intermediate holding R AR Z B
company — (50,904)
Amounts due to holding companies FEAHZERG A Bl
and fellow subsidiaries KRR B A RERIE (983) (1,807)
Amounts due to related companies FEfSTRRE N FIERIA (891) (2,889)
(47,628) (111,649)
Net current assets REBEERE 160,683 117,811
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26 Company — level statement of financial 26 FNF — MEBKAE®®
position (Continued)
2015 2014
—E-HE g4
Note $'000 $'000
BaE Ft Tt
Total assets less current liabilities ZEERGBHERS 1,226,115 1,198,426
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Loan from an intermediate holding RN AT 2B
company (190,747) (139,985)
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETH B A R)BRIE (558,001) (558,013)
Retirement benefit liabilities RINEFEE (26,939) (20,115)
(775,687) (718,113)
NET ASSETS EEZFE 450,428 480,313
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAE #E 22(a)
Share capital k& 252,524 252,524
Other reserves H A 197,904 227,789
TOTAL EQUITY R 450,428 480,313
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 4 February KHEFER T —AF-_ANBAHERRE
2016. HEFIEE
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27 Immediate and ultimate controlling party 27 HERRHEREERAT
At 31 December 2015, the directors consider the immediate parent RZE—AFE+-A=+—H EFRAK
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Neptunia Corporation SEMNEES AR EREKIERAT DA
Limited and Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. respectively. Neptunia 37 9% F A R A &) & Top Frontier Investment
Corporation Limited is incorporated in Hong Kong while Top Frontier Holdings, Inc. o 323 F| B BR A Rl & 75 s it
Investment Holdings, Inc. is incorporated in the Republic of the Philippines. X321 Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc.
Top Frontier Investment Holdings, Inc. produces financial statements BIJ 5 JE 72 B R0 B+ fift A 32 - Top Frontier
available for public use. Investment Holdings, Inc. 48 2481 #& X ¥ 1A

BRI o
28 Possible impact of amendments, new standards 28 EBHE%EXRRBE_ZE—HF+=

and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a few amendments and new standards which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2015 and which have not been adopted
in these financial statements. These include the following which may be
relevant to the Group:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Annual Improvements to HKFRSS 2012-2014 Cycle 1 January 2016

Amendments to HKAS 1, Disclosure initiative 1 January 2016

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38,
Clarification of acceptable methods
of depreciation and amortisation

1 January 2016

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 1 January 2018

HKFRS 16, Leases 1 January 2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact
of these amendments is expected to be in the period of initial application.
So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

R=E+—HLFEEENHERNE
B - MR RRETRERNTE

BEAMBRERTIER  BEGHMASE
BHZEREE_T-AF T _A=1+—H
LIEEFRANARERNEANERT KA - A
MBmARIL BIRANZLFERT AL o H
o ATNEAEEGR

=Rz
ZERBZ
S BEEM
BB IR EER| —E—RF
ZE—CFRE T UF —A—H
PR FEE#E
BERGETERZE 19 (1BF]) —E—REF
[ &A1) —A—H
AR GRTERIE 169 —E—RF
MEBGFTERIZE 385 —A—H
(BB T & K # 5y
AR A2 g ]
BB ISR 2RI 1557 —ZE—)\4F
[FEFE&#WKE] —A—H
BRY MR EERE W —E-N\F
[T A —A—H
BB HRELERE 1657 —E—NF
[HE] —A—H

REB I AL F ERNERT I B R E AR Z
FE FEARL  AEERRRAZEFE
AMETHAREGRE M REBREATE
FIRTBEIE K ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BN % H MRS

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of San Miguel
Brewery Hong Kong Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) set out on pages 62 to 125, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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- +
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT &3 /Z & ATk &
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued) BB EE (&)
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about %*ﬁi&iﬂ%ﬂifuﬁﬁxﬁF%ﬁi*/—\ﬂﬁ%i&%Fﬁ%i
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The &£ZERIFBEELIHNETERE - FMEFERNRRFEOR

procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and of
the Group's financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

4 February 2016
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EBENDEHARAT —B-RFFR

GROUP PROPERTIES E£EY)%

Details of the major property of the Group are as follow: AEBZ EESYEFBOT -

Existing use Term of lease

REERAR ik

Major property held for investment
BERENEIEME

Portions of Dangerous Goods Store, Warehouse rental Medium-term
two Car Parking Spaces
on the Ground Floor,
the whole of Mezzanine Floor,
the whole of Second Floor,
the whole of third Floor,
a portion of Fourth and Fifth Floor,
the whole of Sixth Floor
and a portion of Roof Floor,
San Miguel Industrial Building
Nos. 9-11 Shing Wan Road,
Tai Wai, Shatin, Hong Kong

BoERmRE W TMERERA - ERME T H
MERE —B2E ZB2E-
RO R ED B

NERE  REHKRE
EBYDBAEKER 9-1158
ENTEKRE
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7 —E-HFEFR

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY EEEHBE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (ABEERTE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—E-1F —E-F —T-=F e —T——%F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr T T F
(restated)
(BEF))
Results 7
Revenue WA 569,502 728,640 687,093 686,362 683,879
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREiAT (B518) /& (16,053) 37,227 22,283 230,009 (69,027)
Income tax (charge)/credit FTS® () /FTA (856) (233) 3,541 (3,033) 389
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B518) /&F (16,909) 36,994 25,824 226,976 (68,638)
Attributable to: FE(HLAT
— Equity shareholders — RRFIERFEA
of the Company (16,074) 35,323 26,010 237,655 (53,464)
— Non-controlling interests — JEIE R (835) 1,671 (186) (10,679) (15,174)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BB) /&7 (16,909) 36,994 25,824 226,976 (68,638)
(Loss)/earnings per share ik (B18) /&7
— Basic (cents) — AR () (4) 9 7 64 (14)
Cash dividends per share (cents) FRIFELKRE (L) — 2 1 — =
Assets and liabilities BEHREE
Fixed assets EEEE 597,381 621,309 635,893 654,678 389,671
Intangible assets BYEE 5,163 5,187 5,188 5,426 5,709
Net current assets/(liabilities) nEEE,/ (AF) FE 162,371 108,040 114,032 34,953 (73,729)
Total assets less current liabilites ~— BEERAZEE 764,915 734,536 755,113 695,057 321,651
Retirement benefit liabilities RAENEE (26,939) (20,115) (17,660) (34,534) (20,975)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE (2,243) (2,487) (2,939) (3,595) (3,453)
Bank loan RITER — = = (145,092) —
Loan from an intermediate BAERARZER
holding company (190,747) (139,985) (190,837) — —
Net assets BETE 544,986 571,949 543,678 511,836 297,223
Capital and reserves BRAK f#E
Share capital: nominal value IR« EE — — 186,785 186,785 186,785
Other statutory capital reserves HinEEEARE — = 65,739 65,739 65,739
Share capital and other statutory B R Ecph)ETE
capital reserves B 252,524 252,524 252,524 252,524 252,524
Other reserves HipfEE 319,516 347,386 320,897 287,926 62,627
Total equity attributable to equity AR RIEREA A
shareholders of the Company e R 572,040 599,910 573,421 540,450 315,151
Non-controlling interests FErE R R (27,054) (27,967) (29,743) (28,614) (17,928)
Total equity ERAE 544,986 571,949 543,678 511,836 297,223
Notes to the five year summary: AFREMEME

In order to comply with the revised HKAS 19, Employee benefits, in 2013, the Group changed
its accounting policy for its defined benefit retirement plan. This change has been applied
retrospectively for the year ended 31 December 2012 but not for the preceding years as the

directors consider that the effect is not material to those years.
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